

Fefferman–Graham and Bondi Gauges in the Fluid/Gravity Correspondence

Luca Ciambelli*

Université Libre de Bruxelles and International Solvay Institutes CP 231, 1050 Brussels, Belgium

E-mail: ciambelli.luca@gmail.com

Charles Marteau, P. Marios Petropoulos[†]

Centre de Physique Théorique – CPHT Ecole Polytechnique, CNRS[‡] Institut Polytechnique de Paris 91128 Palaiseau Cedex, France

E-mail: marteau.charles.75@gmail.com, marios.petropoulos@polytechnique.edu

Romain Ruzziconi

Université Libre de Bruxelles and International Solvay Institutes CP 231, 1050 Brussels, Belgium

E-mail: Romain.Ruzziconi@ulb.ac.be

In three-dimensional gravity, we discuss the relation between the Fefferman–Graham gauge, the Bondi gauge and the Eddington–Finkelstein type of gauge, often referred to as the derivative expansion, involved in the fluid/gravity correspondence. Starting with a negative cosmological constant, for each gauge, we derive the solution space and the residual gauge diffeomorphisms. We construct explicitly the diffeomorphisms that relate the various gauges, and establish the precise matching of their boundary data. We show that Bondi and Fefferman–Graham gauges are equivalent, while the fluid/gravity derivative expansion, originating from a partial gauge fixing, exhibits an extra unspecified function that encodes the boundary fluid velocity. The Bondi gauge turns out to describe a subspace of the derivative expansion's solution space, featuring a fluid in a specific hydrodynamic frame. We pursue our analysis with the Ricci-flat limit of the Bondi gauge and of the fluid/gravity derivative expansion. The relations between them persist in this limit, which is well-defined and non-trivial. Moreover, the flat limit of the derivative expansion maps to the ultra-relativistic limit on the boundary. This procedure allows to unravel the holographic properties of the Bondi gauge for vanishing cosmological constant, in terms of its boundary Carrollian dual fluid.

"Corfu Conference on Recent Developments in Strings and Gravity" and "Humboldt Kolleg Frontiers in Physics: From the Electroweak to the Planck Scales" in the Corfu Summer Institute 2019
31 August – 25 September 2019
Corfu, Greece

^{*}Speaker.

[†]Speaker.

[‡]Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Unité Mixte de Recherche UMR 7644.

Contents

1.	Intr	oduction	1
2.	Anti-de Sitter Gauges		3
	2.1	Fefferman-Graham	4
	2.2	Bondi	5
	2.3	Derivative Expansion	8
3.	Gauge Matching		12
	3.1	From Bondi to Fefferman–Graham	12
	3.2	From Bondi to Derivative Expansion	14
	3.3	Derivative Expansion and Fefferman-Graham	16
	3.4	Holographic-Fluid Interpretation	16
4.	Ricci-Flat Limit		18
	4.1	Bondi Gauge	18
	4.2	Carrollian Fluid/Gravity Derivative Expansion	20
	4.3	Gauge Matching	25
	4.4	The Holographic Fluid Dual to Ricci-Flat Spacetimes	26
5.	Conclusions		28

1. Introduction

Three-dimensional vacuum Einstein gravity is a topological theory that provides an appropriate framework for addressing relevant questions about gravity. In this theory, physically different solutions of Einstein equations are labelled by their asymptotic charges, computed after specifying a set of boundary conditions. The latter are important because their choice also dictates the associated asymptotic symmetries, and are set up in practice by specifying a particular gauge. Consequently, the study of different gauges – and of their relationships – becomes of primary importance.

Depending on the problem one is addressing, different gauge fixings may be better suited. In the present work, we will focus on the Fefferman–Graham gauge, the Bondi gauge and the fluid/gravity derivative expansion.

• Bondi gauge. Introduced in [22–24] for asymptotically flat spacetimes, it was revitalised in recent years due to a renewed interest in the symmetries of asymptotically flat spacetimes [25–27] and in particular for their connections with soft theorems and memory effects [28–34]. This gauge is implemented on a null direction, which makes it suited for the study of gravitational waves in higher dimensions. The Bondi gauge was also used to study asymptotically anti-de Sitter spacetimes and their flat limit in [35,36], where a specific set of

¹See e.g. [1–7] and [8–21] for gauge-independent and gauge-dependent approaches, respectively.

boundary conditions was used. In [37–39] (see also [40]), less stringent conditions have been considered on the boundary geometric data allowing asymptotically locally anti-de Sitter and asymptotically locally flat spacetimes in four dimensions.²

- Fefferman–Graham gauge. This gauge was defined in [41,42], and has been extensively used in holography [43,44]. It exhibits a radial direction (the holographic direction) parametrizing a family of time-like hypersurfaces, and radial evolution interpreted as the renormalization flow of the boundary theory. The bulk metric induces a conformal class of metrics and an energy–momentum tensor on the boundary.³ The relationship between the Bondi and Fefferman–Graham gauges has been worked out for four-dimensional asymptotically locally AdS spacetimes in [37,38].
- Fluid/gravity derivative expansion. This is an Eddington–Finkelstein type of gauge, which appears in the fluid/gravity correspondence. The latter set originally a relationship between boundary conformal relativistic fluids and bulk Einstein spacetimes [46–50], and its name is borrowed from the derivative expansion used in the constitutive relations of fluid dynamics. The fluid/gravity derivative expansion (derivative expansion for short) has been systematically studied beyond perturbation (i.e. in resummed forms) for anti de Sitter in [51–55], and later generalized towards asymptotically flat spacetimes in three and four dimensions [56,57]. It is implemented using a null bulk congruence, as is the Bondi gauge, though in a rather boundary-to-bulk spirit. It provides thus a concrete interpretation of the boundary data in terms of relativistic or more exotic Carrollian fluids, for asymptotically anti-de Sitter or flat spacetimes.

Our aim is here to deliver a comprehensive review of three-dimensional asymptotically locally AdS and asymptotically locally flat spacetimes. The presentation takes a slightly different and complementary perspective than the work [58], following the pattern gauge-fixing, asymptotic behavior, solution space and its variation, and residual diffeomorphisms. We build the coordinate transformations relating the above gauges, and set the precise dictionary between their solution spaces. A thorough description would require the computation of the associated surface charges, for which we set the stage.

In this analysis, we demand mild falloffs in order to allow for a conformal compactification. This minimal requirement is important in the spirit of finding the biggest solution space allowed for each gauge, including all possible arbitrary data with the most general corresponding asymptotic symmetries. Of course, our approach is meant to embrace restricted cases with stronger boundary conditions, as those studied in the quoted literature.

Performing the proposed study, and exhibiting the concrete diffeomorphisms that relate the various gauges is useful from several viewpoints. Firstly, these tools are necessary for comparing solution spaces, asymptotic symmetries, and ultimately surface charges. Secondly, they reveal alternative interpretations to the associated data. In particular we will see through the comparison between the Bondi gauge and the derivative expansion, how to interpret the Bondi data in terms of the boundary relativistic conformal fluid. For example the bulk Bondi angular-momentum aspect

²Here and in the following, "locally" means that the boundary-metric data are unspecified.

³See [45] for an explicit Weyl-covariant enhancement of this gauge.

turns out to be related to the boundary-fluid heat current, whereas the Bondi mass is encoded in its energy density. Lastly, this approach supplies the right frame for considering the flat limit – whenever it is regular. This bulk limit induces an ultra-relativistic limit on the boundary,⁴ which allows for a holographic description of the flat Bondi data. In the fluid/gravity language, this description relies on Carrollian hydrodynamics, along the lines developed in [74]⁵ and successfully applied in [56, 57] for making a step further in grasping asymptotically flat holography.⁶

In section 2, we define the gauges at hand in locally AdS₃ spacetime, derive their general solution space, determine the residual gauge diffeomorphisms and work out the variations of the solution space. From this analysis, we observe that the solution spaces of Fefferman–Graham and Bondi gauges are parametrized by five functions, while the derivative expansion requires six functions. The additional function encodes the boundary-fluid velocity. The velocity of a relativistic fluid is admittedly redundant [94,95] and its choice defines a *hydrodynamic frame*. The explicit appearance of the latter in the solution space, already analyzed in [57] in relation with the conserved charges, shows that the corresponding redundancy is at best local. Notice that even locally, the choice of hydrodynamic frame is bound to each specific physical situation. This feature has been discussed in the recent literature [96–99].

In section 3, we design the diffeomorphisms relating these gauges. This allows to match explicitly the solution spaces and the residual gauge diffeomorphisms, extending thereby to three dimensions the results of [38] for Bondi and Fefferman–Graham. In particular, we show that the Bondi gauge appears as a sub-gauge of the derivative expansion, associated with a specific fluid frame. As anticipated, this endows the Bondi data with a fluid holographic interpretation.

In section 4, we focus on the Ricci-flat limit of the results established earlier for the Bondi gauge and the derivative expansion. Both admit a smooth limit, where the time-like boundary becomes null [35, 36, 56, 57], as opposed to the Fefferman–Graham gauge. Furthermore, although the flat limit is straightforward in Bondi gauge, for the derivative expansion one needs to carefully define the behavior of the boundary fluid data at vanishing velocity of light. This is performed along the lines discussed in [56, 57, 74], and guarantees that the bulk line element remains finite. As for AdS₃, the Bondi gauge is retrieved as a sub-gauge of a Ricci-flat fluid/gravity derivative expansion originally introduced in [56, 57].

This work is accompanied with the Mathematica notebook Appendix.nb, which gathers some lengthy expressions of the coordinate transformations discussed in section 3.

2. Anti-de Sitter Gauges

In this section we describe the advertised gauges, following a systematic pattern: we firstly define the gauge-fixing conditions for the metric, then we analyze the solution space of Einstein equations, and finally the variation of the latter under residual gauge diffeomorphisms.

⁴Mathematical and physical queries on the ultra-relativistic limit, dubbed Carrollian, started with the work of Lévy–Leblond [59], and gain attention over the recent years, often in conjunction with its dual Galilean counterpart [60–73].

⁵Other methods for generalizing hydrodynamics on non-relativistic spacetimes can be found e.g. in [75–81].

⁶See for instance [82–93] for related work.

2.1 Fefferman-Graham

The Fefferman–Graham description of asymptotically anti-de Sitter spacetimes is well-known [41,42]. We report it for completeness and for later comparison with the other gauges.

Definition

In the Fefferman–Graham gauge, [41, 42], the metric is given by

$$ds^2 = \frac{\ell^2}{\rho^2} d\rho^2 + g_{ab}(\rho, x) dx^a dx^b, \qquad (2.1)$$

with coordinates (ρ, x^a) , $x^a = (t, \phi)$. The boundary is located at $\rho = 0$ and ℓ is the AdS radius. The three gauge-fixing conditions are

$$g_{\rho\rho} = \frac{\ell^2}{\rho^2}, \quad g_{\rho a} = 0.$$
 (2.2)

Residual gauge diffeomorphisms ξ , namely diffeomorphisms that preserve the gauge-fixing conditions (2.2), satisfy

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{\rho\rho} = 0, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{\rho a} = 0. \tag{2.3}$$

The explicit solution of these equations is given by

$$\xi^{\rho} = \rho \sigma(x), \quad \xi^{a} = \xi_{0}^{a}(x) - \ell^{2} \partial_{b} \sigma \int_{0}^{\rho} \frac{\mathrm{d}\rho'}{\rho'} g^{ab}(\rho', x), \tag{2.4}$$

where $\sigma(x)$ and $\xi_0^a(x)$ are arbitrary functions of x^a .

Solution space

We impose the preliminary boundary condition $g_{ab} = \mathcal{O}(\rho^{-2})$. Solving the three-dimensional Einstein equations leads to the analytic finite expansion

$$g_{ab}(\rho, x) = \rho^{-2} g_{ab}^{(0)}(x) + g_{ab}^{(2)}(x) + \rho^{2} g_{ab}^{(4)}(x), \tag{2.5}$$

where $g_{ab}^{(4)}$ is determined by $g_{ab}^{(0)}$ and $g_{ab}^{(2)}$ as

$$g_{ab}^{(4)} = \frac{1}{4} g_{ac}^{(2)} g_{(0)}^{cd} g_{db}^{(2)}. \tag{2.6}$$

Einstein's equations leave $g_{ab}^{(2)}$ unspecified up to its trace $\text{Tr}\Big[g^{(2)}\Big] = -\frac{\ell^2}{2}R^{(0)}$ and the dynamical constraint $D_{(0)}^a g_{ab}^{(2)} = -\frac{\ell^2}{2}g_{ab}^{(0)}D_{(0)}^a R^{(0)}$. Here, $D_{(0)}^a$ is the covariant derivative with respect to $g_{ab}^{(0)}$ and indices are lowered and raised by $g_{ab}^{(0)}$ and its inverse. In the spirit of [43,44], we define the holographic energy-momentum tensor

$$T_{ab} = \frac{1}{8\pi G \ell} \left(g_{ab}^{(2)} - g_{ab}^{(0)} \text{Tr} \left[g^{(2)} \right] \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{8\pi G \ell} \left(g_{ab}^{(2)} + \frac{\ell^2}{2} g_{ab}^{(0)} R^{(0)} \right). \tag{2.7}$$

Therefore the Einstein equations infer

$$T_a{}^a = \frac{c}{24\pi} R^{(0)}, \quad D^a_{(0)} T_{ab} = 0,$$
 (2.8)

where $c = \frac{3\ell}{2G}$ is the three-dimensional Brown–Henneaux central charge [100, 101].

The solution space is thus characterized by five arbitrary functions of x^a . Three are in the symmetric tensor $g_{ab}^{(0)}$ and two in the symmetric tensor T_{ab} with constrained trace. These data are subject to two dynamical equations given by $D_{(0)}^a T_{ab} = 0$.

Variation of the solution space

The residual gauge diffeomorphisms (2.4) evaluated on-shell are given by

$$\xi^{\rho} = \sigma \rho, \quad \xi^{a} = \xi_{0}^{a} - \frac{\rho^{2}}{2} g_{(0)}^{ab} \ell^{2} \partial_{b} \sigma + \frac{\rho^{4}}{4} g_{(0)}^{ac} g_{cd}^{(2)} g_{(0)}^{db} \ell^{2} \partial_{b} \sigma + \mathcal{O}(\rho^{6}). \tag{2.9}$$

Under these residual gauge diffeomorphisms, the unconstrained part of the solution space transforms as⁷

$$\delta_{\xi} g_{ab}^{(0)} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi_0} g_{ab}^{(0)} - 2\sigma g_{ab}^{(0)}, \tag{2.10}$$

while the constrained part transforms as

$$\delta_{\xi} g_{ab}^{(2)} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi_0} g_{ab}^{(2)} - \frac{\ell^2}{2} \mathcal{L}_{\partial \sigma} g_{ab}^{(0)}, \tag{2.11}$$

from which one can extract the variation of T_{ab} .

A consistent boundary condition (that we will not impose in the subsequent developments), often used in the literature, is the Brown–Henneaux [101] condition: the boundary metric is frozen to be the flat metric $g_{ab}^{(0)} = \eta_{ab}$. When imposing this condition we recover the usual aymptotic symmetry group in AdS₃, i.e. the conformal group. Indeed, (2.10) becomes

$$\delta_{\xi} \eta_{ab} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi_0} \eta_{ab} - 2\sigma \eta_{ab} = 0. \tag{2.12}$$

Tracing this last equation enables us to write σ in terms of ξ_0 . Therefore the symmetry algebra is uniquely specified by a vector ξ_0 that belongs to the boundary conformal algebra. Using this phase space, one can compute the associated surface charges and their algebra to deduce the Brown-Henneaux central charge.

2.2 Bondi

The Bondi gauge has been studied in e.g. [25, 26]. We extend the analysis to asymptotically locally AdS spacetimes, including the boundary metric in the solution space. Similar results were obtained in four dimensions [38].

⁷Our convention for the variation δ_{ξ} is the opposite of that used in [58].

Definition

In the Bondi gauge [22–24, 26, 35], the metric is given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{V}{r}e^{2\beta}du^{2} - 2e^{2\beta}dudr + r^{2}e^{2\phi}(d\phi - Udu)^{2},$$
(2.13)

with coordinates (u, r, ϕ) . In this expression, V, β and U are functions of (u, r, ϕ) , and φ is function of (u, ϕ) . The three gauge-fixing conditions are

$$g_{rr} = 0, \quad g_{r\phi} = 0, \quad g_{\phi\phi} = r^2 e^{2\phi}.$$
 (2.14)

Note that $g_{\phi\phi} = r^2 e^{2\phi}$ is the unique solution of the determinant condition

$$\partial_r \left(\frac{g_{\phi\phi}}{r^2} \right) = 0, \tag{2.15}$$

which can be generalized to define the Bondi gauge in higher dimensions.

The residual gauge diffeomorphisms ξ preserving the Bondi gauge fixing (2.14) have to satisfy the three conditions

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{rr} = 0, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{r\phi} = 0, \quad g^{\phi\phi}\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{\phi\phi} = 2\omega(u,\phi).$$
 (2.16)

The explicit solution of these equations is given by

$$\xi^{u} = f, \tag{2.17}$$

$$\xi^{\phi} = Y - \partial_{\phi} f e^{-2\phi} \int_{r}^{+\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}r'}{r'^{2}} e^{2\beta}, \tag{2.18}$$

$$\xi^{r} = -r[\partial_{\phi}\xi^{\phi} - \omega - U\partial_{\phi}f + \xi^{\phi}\partial_{\phi}\varphi + f\partial_{u}\varphi], \qquad (2.19)$$

where $f(u, \phi)$, $Y(u, \phi)$ and $\omega(u, \phi)$ are arbitrary functions of (u, ϕ) .

Solution space

This following analysis of the general solution space in the gauge at hand generalizes the results of [26]. There is no need of imposing any preliminary boundary condition here. This is in contrast with the procedure followed in the Fefferman–Graham gauge. Therefore, in three dimensions, the gauge conditions (2.14) are to some extent stronger than those imposed for defining the Fefferman–Graham gauge (2.2).

First we impose the Einstein equations leading to the metric radial constraints. Solving $G_{rr} - \frac{1}{\ell^2}g_{rr} = R_{rr} = 0$ gives

$$\beta = \beta_0(u, \phi). \tag{2.20}$$

Next, the equation $G_{r\phi}-rac{1}{\ell^2}g_{r\phi}=R_{r\phi}=0$ leads to

$$U = U_0(u,\phi) + \frac{1}{r} 2e^{2\beta_0} e^{-2\varphi} \partial_{\phi} \beta_0 - \frac{1}{r^2} e^{2\beta_0} e^{-2\varphi} N(u,\phi). \tag{2.21}$$

Finally, $G_{ur} - \frac{1}{\ell^2} g_{ur} = 0$ gives

$$\frac{V}{r} = -\frac{r^2}{\ell^2} e^{2\beta_0} - 2r(\partial_u \varphi + D_\phi U_0) + M(u, \phi) + \frac{1}{r} 4e^{2\beta_0} e^{-2\varphi} N \partial_\phi \beta_0 - \frac{1}{r^2} e^{2\beta_0} e^{-2\varphi} N^2, \tag{2.22}$$

where $D_{\phi}U_0 = \partial_{\phi}U_0 + \partial_{\phi}\varphi U_0$. Taking into account the previous results, the Einstein equation $G_{\phi\phi} - \frac{1}{\ell^2}g_{\phi\phi} = 0$ is automatically satisfied at all orders.

We now solve the Einstein equations in order to obtain the time evolution of M and N. The equation $G_{u\phi} - \frac{1}{\ell^2} g_{u\phi} = 0$ provides

$$(\partial_{u} + \partial_{u}\varphi)N = \left(\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\phi} + \partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\right)M - 2N\partial_{\phi}U_{0} - U_{0}(\partial_{\phi}N + N\partial_{\phi}\varphi) +4e^{2\beta_{0}-2\varphi}[2(\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})^{3} - (\partial_{\phi}\varphi)(\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})^{2} + (\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})(\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0})].$$
(2.23)

Moreover, $G_{uu} - \frac{1}{\ell^2} g_{uu} = 0$ imposes

$$\partial_{u}M = (-2\partial_{u}\phi + 2\partial_{u}\beta_{0} - 2\partial_{\phi}U_{0} + U_{0}2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - U_{0}2\partial_{\phi}\phi - U_{0}\partial_{\phi})M + \frac{2}{\ell^{2}}e^{4\beta_{0}-2\phi}[\partial_{\phi}N + N(4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}\phi)]
-2e^{2\beta_{0}-2\phi}\{\partial_{\phi}U_{0}[8(\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})^{2} - 4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi + (\partial_{\phi}\phi)^{2} + 4\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} - 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi] - \partial_{\phi}^{3}U_{0}
+ U_{0}[\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}(8\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} - 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi) + \partial_{\phi}\phi(-2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} + \partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi) + 2\partial_{\phi}^{3}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}^{3}\phi]
+ 2\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}(4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}\phi) + \partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\phi(-2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + \partial_{\phi}\phi) + 2\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} - \partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi\}.$$
(2.24)

The solution space is thus characterized by five arbitrary functions of (u, ϕ) , given by β_0 , U_0 , M, N, φ , with two dynamical constraints expressing the time evolution of M and N. This agrees with the results obtained when solving the Einstein equations in the Fefferman–Graham gauge. The precise matching between the two solution spaces will be established in section 3.1.

Variation of the solution space

The residual gauge diffeomorphisms (2.17–2.19) evaluated on-shell are given by

$$\xi^u = f, (2.25)$$

$$\xi^{\phi} = Y - \frac{1}{r} \partial_{\phi} f e^{2\beta_0 - 2\phi}, \tag{2.26}$$

$$\xi^{r} = -r[\partial_{\phi}Y - \omega - U_{0}\partial_{\phi}f + Y\partial_{\phi}\varphi + f\partial_{u}\varphi]$$

$$+e^{2\beta_0-2\varphi}(\partial_{\phi}^2 f - \partial_{\phi} f \partial_{\phi} \varphi + 4\partial_{\phi} f \partial_{\phi} \beta_0) - \frac{1}{r}e^{2\beta_0-2\varphi}\partial_{\phi} f N. \tag{2.27}$$

Under these residual gauge diffeomorphisms, the unconstrained part of the solution space transforms as

$$\delta_{\xi} \varphi = \omega, \tag{2.28}$$

$$\delta_{\xi}\beta_{0} = (f\partial_{u} + Y\partial_{\phi})\beta_{0} + \left(\frac{1}{2}\partial_{u} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{u}\phi + U_{0}\partial_{\phi}\right)f - \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\phi}Y + Y\partial_{\phi}\phi - \omega), \tag{2.29}$$

$$\delta_{\xi}U_{0} = (f\partial_{u} + Y\partial_{\phi} - \partial_{\phi}Y)U_{0} - \left(\partial_{u}Y - \frac{1}{\ell^{2}}e^{4\beta_{0}}e^{-2\phi}\partial_{\phi}f\right) + U_{0}(\partial_{u}f + U_{0}\partial_{\phi}f), \quad (2.30)$$

while the constrained part transforms as

$$\begin{split} \delta_{\xi} N &= (f\partial_{u} + Y\partial_{\phi} + 2\partial_{\phi}Y + f\partial_{u}\phi + Y\partial_{\phi}\phi - \omega - 2U_{0}\partial_{\phi}f)N + M\partial_{\phi}f - e^{2\beta_{0}-2\phi}[3\partial_{\phi}^{2}f(2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}\phi) \\ &+ \partial_{\phi}f(4(\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})^{2} - 8\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi + 2(\partial_{\phi}\phi)^{2} + 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi) + \partial_{\phi}^{3}f], \end{split}$$
 (2.31)
$$\delta_{\xi} M = \frac{4}{\ell^{2}}\partial_{\phi}fe^{4\beta_{0}-2\phi}N + (\partial_{u}f + f\partial_{u}\phi + \partial_{\phi}Y + Y\partial_{\phi}\phi - \omega)M - 2e^{2\beta_{0}-2\phi}\Big[2\partial_{\phi}^{2}f\partial_{u}\beta_{0} + 4\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}f\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + \partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}^{2}f \\ &+ \partial_{\phi}^{2}f\partial_{\phi}U_{0} + 8\partial_{\phi}^{2}f\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}U_{0} + \partial_{\phi}f\Big((4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}\phi)(2\partial_{u}\beta_{0} - \partial_{u}\phi) + 4\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + \partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - 2\partial_{\phi}\phi\Big) \\ &- \partial_{\phi}^{2}U_{0} - 2\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\phi + U_{0}(-4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi + 8(\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})^{2} + 4\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} + (\partial_{\phi}\phi)^{2} - 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi\Big)\Big) - 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}fU_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi + \partial_{\phi}^{3}fU_{0} \\ &- \partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}f\partial_{\phi}\phi - \partial_{\phi}^{2}f\partial_{u}\phi - 2f\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\phi + 2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi - 2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}Y\partial_{\phi}\phi - 2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}^{2}Y - 2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}Y\partial_{\phi}^{2}\varphi\Big) \\ &+ f\partial_{u}M + \partial_{\phi}MY. \end{split}$$
 (2.32)
These are the most general variations of the solution space in Bondi gauge. They are key ingredients in the computation of the asymptotic charge algebra. The conformal group is also obtained when imposing boundary conditions on the Bondi gauge in AdS. The Brown–Henneaux boundary conditions $g_{ab}^{(0)} = \eta_{ab}$ is translated in Bondi gauge to
$$\phi = 0, \quad \beta_{0} = 0, \quad U_{0} = 0. \qquad (2.33)$$
The first one fixes ω to be zero, the second and third ones lead to two equations on f and f are f and f

These are the most general variations of the solution space in Bondi gauge. They are key ingredients in the computation of the asymptotic charge algebra.

The conformal group is also obtained when imposing boundary conditions on the Bondi gauge in AdS. The Brown–Henneaux boundary condition $g_{ab}^{(0)}=\eta_{ab}$ is translated in Bondi gauge to

$$\varphi = 0, \quad \beta_0 = 0, \quad U_0 = 0.$$
 (2.33)

The first one fixes ω to be zero, the second and third ones lead to two equations on f and Y

$$\partial_u f = \partial_\phi Y, \quad \partial_u Y = \frac{1}{\ell^2} \partial_\phi f.$$
 (2.34)

The asymptotic symmetry algebra is therefore uniquely specified by a vector $\xi_0 = f \partial_u + Y \partial_\phi$ that belongs to the conformal transformations of the flat boundary metric.

2.3 Derivative Expansion

The fluid/gravity method for building Einstein spacetimes is not so different in spirit compared to Bondi's approach. It is also an Eddington-Finkelstein type of gauge, not completely fixed though. Its solution space is determined by six functions, showing that this metric contains one additional arbitrary function. This means that the derivative expansion corresponds to a oneparameter family of true gauges, a particular member being the Bondi gauge. The solution space is mapped onto the data of a boundary relativistic fluid and the additional function is identified with the boundary fluid velocity. Since the boundary is two-dimensional, the orthogonal space to the fluid velocity is the one-dimensional space spanned by the Hodge dual of the velocity itself. The decomposition of tensors along these two directions, as already applied in [57, 102], is a convenient property in two dimensions.

Definition and solution space

The Eddington-Finkelstein type of gauge of the fluid/gravity holographic correspondence, the derivative expansion, is named after the standard derivative expansion used in fluid dynamics. The latter consists in expressing the various dissipative and non-dissipative quantities entering the relativistic-fluid energy-momentum tensor, as expansions in increasing derivative order of the fluid velocity (here u^a , normalized as $u^a \tilde{g}_{ab} u^b = -\frac{1}{\ell^2}$), the temperature and the chemical potentials (when extra currents are present). These are the fluid constitutive relations. In the original fluid/gravity correspondence, the bulk Einstein metric associated with a boundary relativistic fluid was set up order by order in inverse powers of the holographic coordinate r, which is a null radial coordinate [46–49]. The coefficients of this expansion were derivatives of the fluid fundamental fields (velocity, temperature and chemical potentials) of increasing order, designed to ensure the invariance of the line element with respect to boundary Weyl transformations.

As just summarized, this version of the fluid/gravity correspondence is restrictive because the class of Einstein spacetimes dual to fluid configurations is expected to be rather limited. In order to promote the fluid/gravity correspondence onto a genuine generating procedure for arbitrary Einstein spacetimes, we must set every quantity present in the energy–momentum tensor free and not determined by any sort of constitutive relation, accounting therefore for non-hydrodynamic modes. The fluid velocity and energy density, the heat current, the stress tensor, and the boundary metric become all arbitrary functions, and these are the fundamental blocs that design the expansion in inverse powers of the radial light-like coordinate, dictated by Weyl covariance [51–57,97]. Calling this expansion a derivative expansion is a misnomer, which persist for convenience.

In three dimensions, the most general line element expressed in the fluid/gravity derivative expansion, along the lines of generalization stated above spells as follows:

$$ds^{2} = 2\ell^{2}u_{a}dx^{a}(dr + rA_{b}dx^{b}) + r^{2}\tilde{g}_{ab}dx^{a}dx^{b} + 8\pi G\ell^{4}u_{a}dx^{a}(\varepsilon u_{b}dx^{b} + \chi \star u_{b}dx^{b}), \tag{2.35}$$

where $x^a = (x^0, \phi) = (\frac{u}{\ell}, \phi)$. Since the boundary is two-dimensional, there exists a unique transverse direction to u^a , spanned by the boundary Hodge dual $\star u_a = \eta_{ab} u^b$. The various boundary tensors appearing in this line element are associated with the boundary fluid. In particular

$$A_a = \ell^2 (u^b \tilde{\nabla}_b u_a - \tilde{\nabla}_b u^b u_a) = \ell^2 (\Theta^* \star u_a - \Theta u_a), \tag{2.36}$$

where we introduced the expansion of the fluid velocity $\Theta = \tilde{\nabla}_a u^a$ and of its dual $\Theta^* = \tilde{\nabla}_a \star u^a$. The vector A_a can be interpreted as a Weyl connection [50], whereas ε and χ are the fluid energy density and heat current density, respectively. The latter are the local-equilibrium thermodynamic quantities entering the energy-momentum tensor of the boundary fluid:

$$\mathcal{T}_{ab} = 2\ell^2 \varepsilon u_a u_b + \varepsilon \tilde{g}_{ab} + \tau_{ab} + \ell^2 u_a q_b + \ell^2 u_b q_a. \tag{2.37}$$

In this expression $q_a = \chi \star u_a$ and $\tau_{ab} = \ell^2 \tau \star u_a \star u_b$ are the dissipative tensors.

The metric (2.35) was declared to be the most general in the following sense. According to the general pattern described earlier, for designing the fluid/gravity line element we use the fundamental blocks \tilde{g}_{ab} , u_a , $\star u_a$, r, ε and χ , which have weights -2, -1, -1, 1, 2 and 2. Weyl covariance is the guiding principle, but the final selection of the Weyl-covariant coefficients is

⁸More precisely, the starting point of the fluid/gravity advent was the exact Einstein spacetime generated by a boosted black brane. From there, new solutions were reached perturbatively, corresponding to filling tubes centered around the elements of an Eddington–Finkelstein null radial congruence [46]. The coefficients of this expansion were interpreted in terms of a boundary-fluid derivative expansion.

⁹Our conventions are: $\eta_{ab} = \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} \varepsilon_{ab}$ with $\varepsilon_{01} = +1$ and $\eta^{ab} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{-\tilde{g}}} \varepsilon^{ab}$ with $\varepsilon^{01} = +1$. Hence, $\eta^{ab} \eta_{bc} = \delta^a_c$. Notice that the convention for the Hodge dual differs from [57,58].

operated by Einstein's equations involving the radial direction. This is how one is led to (2.35), which is partly on-shell as metric (2.13) is in Bondi gauge, once (2.20), (2.21) and (2.22) are taken into account. As already advertised, the fluid/gravity bulk reconstruction follows closely the scheme of the Bondi gauge – particularly in three dimensions. It differs in the organisation principle of the bare terms appearing in the off-shell metric, here related to the dual fluid.

Now, we must impose that (2.35) obeys the transverse (with respect to r) Einstein equations, and this leads to the requirement that the boundary-fluid energy—momentum tensor satisfies

$$\tau = \frac{\tilde{R}}{8\pi G}, \qquad \tilde{\nabla}_a \mathcal{T}^a{}_b = -\tilde{\nabla}_a D^a{}_b, \tag{2.38}$$

where we introduced the traceless tensor

$$D_{ab} = \frac{\ell^4}{8\pi G} \left[\left(u^c \tilde{\nabla}_c \Theta + \star u^c \tilde{\nabla}_c \Theta^* - \frac{1}{2\ell^2} \tilde{R} \right) \left(u_a u_b + \star u_a \star u_b \right) - 4 \star u^c \tilde{\nabla}_c \Theta \ u_a \star u_b \right]. \tag{2.39}$$

The fluid characterized by \mathcal{T}_{ab} evolves under the influence of a force $-\tilde{\nabla}_a D^a{}_b$. Projecting the equations of motion (2.38) onto the velocity field and its dual, we obtain two scalar equations:

$$u^{a}(\partial_{a}+2A_{a})\varepsilon + \star u^{a}(\partial_{a}+2A_{a})\chi = \frac{\ell^{2}}{4\pi G}\star u^{a}(\partial_{a}+2A_{a})(\star u^{b}\partial_{b}\Theta - u^{b}\partial_{b}\Theta^{\star}), \qquad (2.40)$$

$$\star u^{a}(\partial_{a} + 2A_{a})\varepsilon + u^{a}(\partial_{a} + 2A_{a})\chi = 0. \tag{2.41}$$

The solution space is parametrized by six arbitrary functions of x^a . Three functions are encoded in \tilde{g}_{ab} , two are encoded in χ and ε with time evolution captured in (2.40) and (2.41), and the last is in the normalized fluid velocity $u = u_a dx^a$ (in the following, we often take u_{ϕ} as the arbitrary function and u_u is then completely determined through the normalization condition). Notice that there is one more arbitrary function than in the Fefferman–Graham and Bondi gauges. This is due to the fact that the derivative expansion provides only a partial gauge fixing [40]. The extra degree of freedom in the parametrization of the solution space is the fluid velocity, as we will discuss in section 3. The hydrodynamic frame enters therefore explicitly (and by essence) the fluid/gravity approach, as opposed to the other gauges, which ignore the fluid. This latter fact does not imply that the fluid velocity is utterly unphysical. As established in [57], one cannot dismiss the global outcome associated with the hydrodynamic frame, even though locally the choice of the fluid velocity is arbitrary.

On-shell residual gauge diffeomorphisms

Since the derivative expansion is a partial gauge fixing, there is still an arbitrary function of (r,x^a) in the residual gauge diffeomorphisms [40]. In order to proceed, we start from the following ansatz:

$$\xi^{a} = \xi^{a}_{(0)} + \frac{1}{r}\xi^{a}_{(1)}, \quad \xi^{r} = rR + V + \frac{1}{r}W, \tag{2.42}$$

where $\xi_{(0)}^a = (F, \mathcal{Y})$, $\xi_{(1)}^a = (L, Z)$, R, V and W are functions of x^a . The form of these vectors is motivated by the expression of the residual gauge diffeomorphisms in the Bondi gauge (2.25-2.27) and the gauge matching that will be established in section 3.2. The condition $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{rr} = 0$ leads to

$$u_a \xi_{(1)}^a = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad L = -\frac{u_\phi}{u_u} Z. \tag{2.43}$$

Now, consider the condition $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{ra} = \ell^2 H_a$ where H_a are two functions of x^a constrained by the fluid velocity normalization $\delta_{\xi}(\tilde{g}^{ab}u_au_b) = 0$, or, equivalently,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\xi_{(0)}}\tilde{g}^{ab}u_{a}u_{b} + \frac{2}{\ell^{2}}R + 2u^{a}H_{a} = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad H_{u} = -\frac{1}{2u^{u}}\left[\mathcal{L}_{\xi_{(0)}}\tilde{g}^{ab}u_{a}u_{b} + \frac{2}{\ell^{2}}R + 2u^{\phi}H_{\phi}\right]. \quad (2.44)$$

The requirement $\mathcal{L}_{\xi} g_{ra}|_{\text{order }1} = \ell^2 H_a$ gives

$$\xi_a^{(1)} = \ell^2 [\mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}} u_a + R u_a - H_a], \tag{2.45}$$

while $\mathscr{L}_{\xi} g_{ra}|_{\text{order }1/r^2} = 0$ yields

$$W = -4\pi G \ell^2 \chi \xi_{(1)}^a \star u_a. \tag{2.46}$$

The remaining order $\mathscr{L}_{\xi}g_{ra}|_{\text{order }1/r}=0$ does not impose further constraints on the parameters. Using $\delta_{\xi}A_{a}=\mathscr{L}_{\xi^{(0)}}A_{a}-u^{c}\tilde{\nabla}_{c}\xi_{a}^{(1)}+\tilde{\nabla}_{c}\xi_{(1)}^{c}u_{a}+\tilde{\nabla}_{c}u^{c}\xi_{a}^{(1)}-\xi_{(1)}^{c}\tilde{\nabla}_{c}u_{a}+\tilde{\nabla}_{a}R$, the condition $\mathscr{L}_{\xi}g_{ab}|_{\text{order }r}=2\ell^{2}\delta_{\xi}(u_{(a}A_{b)})$ gives

$$V = -\tilde{\nabla}_a \xi^a_{(1)}. \tag{2.47}$$

Taking into account the previous results, the condition $\delta_{\xi}[\star u^a \star u^b(g_{ab}|_{\text{order 1}})] = 0$ is straightforwardly satisfied. Similarly, using the equations of motion, $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{ab}|_{\text{order 1/r}} = 0$ can be shown to be automatically satisfied after a lengthy computation and using the equations of motion.

Hence, the family of residual gauge diffeomorphisms considered in (2.42) is given explicitly by

$$\xi^{a} = \xi^{a}_{(0)} + \frac{1}{r} \ell^{2} [\tilde{g}^{ab} \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}} u_{b} + R u^{a} - H^{a}], \tag{2.48}$$

$$\xi^{r} = rR - \tilde{\nabla}_{a}\xi^{a}_{(1)} - \frac{4}{r}\pi G\ell^{2}\chi\xi^{a}_{(1)} \star u_{a}, \tag{2.49}$$

where the two functions $H_a = (H_u, H_{\phi})$ are constrained through (2.44).

These diffeomorphisms are parametrized by four arbitrary functions of (u, ϕ) given by $\xi_{(0)}^a = (F, \mathcal{Y})$, R and H_{ϕ} . Notice that there is an additional parameter H_{ϕ} compared to the residual gauge diffeomorphisms of the Bondi gauge (2.25-2.27). This generates the one-parameter family of diffeomorphisms enabling to change the fluid velocity. As we will see below, this is also the extra function needed to generate the diffeomorphism between the Bondi gauge and the derivative expansion (3.25-3.27). Notice moreover that we can at any moment set consistently $u_{\phi} = 0$ and $H_{\phi} = 0$, and achieve the Bondi residual gauge diffeomorphisms. It is thus already obvious that the Bondi gauge defines a particular fluid frame from the derivative expansion viewpoint. We will elaborate on this later on.

Variation of the solution space

Under the residual gauge diffeomorphisms (2.48-2.49) the unconstrained part of the solution space transforms as

$$\delta_{\xi}\tilde{g}_{ab} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}}\tilde{g}_{ab} + 2R\tilde{g}_{ab}, \tag{2.50}$$

$$\delta_{\mathcal{E}}u_a = H_a,\tag{2.51}$$

while the constrained part transforms as 10

$$\delta_{\xi} \chi = \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}} \chi - 2R\chi + 2(\star u^{a} \xi_{a}^{(1)}) \varepsilon - \frac{1}{4\pi G} [\tilde{\nabla}_{a} (\star u^{a} \tilde{\nabla}_{c} \xi_{(1)}^{c}) + \ell^{2} u^{c} \tilde{\nabla}_{c} \xi_{(1)}^{a} u_{a} \Theta^{\star} + A_{b} \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(1)}} \star u^{b} - \xi_{(1)}^{c} \tilde{\nabla}_{c} \Theta^{\star}],$$

$$(2.52)$$

$$\delta_{\xi} \varepsilon = \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}} \varepsilon - 2R\varepsilon + 2(\star u^{a} \xi^{(1)}) \chi + \frac{1}{2\pi G} [\tilde{\nabla}_{a} (u^{a} \tilde{\nabla}_{c} \xi_{(1)}^{b}) + \ell^{2} u^{c} \tilde{\nabla}_{c} \xi_{(1)}^{a} u_{a} \Theta^{\star} + A_{b} \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(1)}} \star u^{b} - \xi_{(1)}^{c} \tilde{\nabla}_{c} \Theta^{\star}],$$

 $\delta_{\xi}\varepsilon = \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}}\varepsilon - 2R\varepsilon + 2(\star u^{a}\xi_{a}^{(1)})\chi + \frac{1}{4\pi G}[\tilde{\nabla}_{a}(u^{a}\tilde{\nabla}_{b}\xi_{(1)}^{b}) + \ell^{2}u^{c}\tilde{\nabla}_{c}\xi_{(1)}^{a}u_{a}\Theta + A_{a}\mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(1)}}u^{a} - \xi_{(1)}^{c}\tilde{\nabla}_{c}\tilde{\Theta}], \tag{2.53}$

where $\xi_a^{(1)}$ is expressed in (2.45) in terms of the gauge parameters. These two formulas are more compact than the variations of N and M obtained in the Bondi gauge (2.32). We will show that the latter can be obtained from (2.52) and (2.53) by setting $u_{\phi} = 0$ and using the appropriate dictionary between the two gauges that we derive in the following section.

3. Gauge Matching

3.1 From Bondi to Fefferman-Graham

Coordinate transformation

Our aim is now to perform an explicit diffeomorphism relating the Bondi and Fefferman–Graham gauges. This is useful, among other things, for connecting their solution spaces. Following [37, 38], we proceed in two steps. We move firstly from Bondi to tortoise coordinates $(u, r, \phi) \rightarrow (t^*, r^*, \phi^*)$,

$$u = t^* - r^*, \quad r = -\ell \cot\left(\frac{r^*}{\ell}\right), \quad \phi^* = \phi, \tag{3.1}$$

and secondly to Fefferman–Graham $(t^*, r^*, \phi) \rightarrow (\rho, t, \phi)$, with

$$t^* = t + T_1(t, \phi)\rho + T_2(t, \phi)\rho^2 + T_3(t, \phi)\rho^3 + \mathcal{O}(\rho^4), \tag{3.2}$$

$$r^* = R_1(t,\phi)\rho + R_2(t,\phi)\rho^2 + R_3(t,\phi)\rho^3 + \mathcal{O}(\rho^4), \tag{3.3}$$

$$\phi^* = \phi + Z_1(t,\phi)\rho + Z_2(t,\phi)\rho^2 + Z_3(t,\phi)\rho^3 + \mathcal{O}(\rho^4).$$
 (3.4)

The functions $T_i(t, \phi)$, $R_i(t, \phi)$ and $Z_i(t, \phi)$ (i = 1, 2, 3) can be worked out explicitly. ¹¹ For the sake of brevity, we report here only the leading orders

$$R_1(t,\phi) = \ell^2, \tag{3.5}$$

$$R_2(t,\phi) = -e^{-2\beta_0} \ell^4(\partial_\phi U_0 + U_0 \partial_\phi \varphi + \partial_t \varphi), \tag{3.6}$$

$$T_1(t,\phi) = \ell^2 (1 - e^{-2\beta_0}),$$
 (3.7)

$$T_2(t,\phi) = -e^{-4\beta_0} \ell^4 [e^{2\beta_0} \partial_{\phi} U_0 + U_0 (\partial_{\phi} \beta_0 + e^{2\beta_0} \partial_{\phi} \phi) + \partial_t \beta_0 + e^{2\beta_0} \partial_t \phi], \tag{3.8}$$

$$Z_1(t,\phi) = -\ell^2 e^{-2\beta_0} U_0, \tag{3.9}$$

$$Z_2(t,\phi) = \frac{1}{2}\ell^2 [2e^{-2\varphi}\partial_{\phi}\beta_0 - 2e^{-4\beta_0}\ell^2 U_0^2\partial_{\phi}\beta_0 + e^{-4\beta_0}\ell^2\partial_t U_0 + e^{-4\beta_0}\ell^2 U_0(\partial_{\phi}U_0 - 2\partial_t\beta_0)]\beta.10)$$

¹⁰To obtain these variations, we have used various identities. In particular $-u_a u_b + \star u_a \star u_b = \frac{1}{\ell^2} \tilde{g}_{ab}$, $\Rightarrow \star u^b \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}(1)} u_b = 0$.

¹¹We report them in the attached Mathematica file Appendix.nb.

Solution space matching

Using the diffeomorphism (3.2-3.4), the solution space of the Fefferman–Graham gauge (lefthand side) is related to the solution space of the Bondi gauge (right-hand side) through

$$g_{ab}^{(0)} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{e^{4\beta_0}}{\ell^2} + e^{2\varphi}U_0^2 & -e^{2\varphi}U_0 \\ -e^{2\varphi}U_0 & e^{2\varphi} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.11)

and

$$T_{tt} = \frac{1}{16\pi G\ell} e^{-4\beta_0 - 2\varphi} \{ 4e^{8\beta_0} [2(\partial_{\phi}\beta_0)^2 - \partial_{\phi}\beta_0\partial_{\phi}\varphi + \partial_{\phi}^2\beta_0] + e^{4\beta_0 + 2\varphi} [e^{2\beta_0}(M - 4NU_0) \\ -\ell^2 ((\partial_{\phi}U_0)^2 + U_0^2 (-8\partial_{\phi}\beta_0\partial_{\phi}\varphi + (\partial_{\phi}\varphi)^2 + 4\partial_{\phi}^2\varphi) + (\partial_{t}\varphi)^2 + 2\partial_{\phi}U_0(U_0(-4\partial_{\phi}\beta_0 + 3\partial_{\phi}\varphi) + \partial_{t}\varphi) \\ +2U_0(2\partial_{\phi}^2U_0 + (-4\partial_{\phi}\beta_0 + \partial_{\phi}\varphi)\partial_{t}\varphi + 2\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\varphi))] + e^{4\varphi}\ell^2U_0^2 [e^{2\beta_0}M + \ell^2((\partial_{\phi}U_0)^2 + U_0^2(-4\partial_{\phi}\beta_0\partial_{\phi}\varphi + (\partial_{\phi}\varphi)^2 + 2\partial_{\phi}\varphi\partial_{t}U_0 + \partial_{t}\varphi(-4\partial_{t}\beta_0 + \partial_{t}\varphi) + 2\partial_{\phi}U_0(2U_0(-\partial_{\phi}\beta_0 + \partial_{\phi}\varphi) + 2\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\varphi) + 2\partial_{\phi}Q\partial_{t}Q\partial_{\phi}\varphi + (\partial_{\phi}\varphi)^2 + 2\partial_{\phi}Q\partial_{t}\varphi + \partial_{\phi}\varphi(-2\partial_{t}\beta_0 + \partial_{t}\varphi) + 2\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\varphi) + 2(\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}U_0 + \partial_{t}^2\varphi))] \} \}$$
(3.12)

$$-\ell^{2}((\partial_{\phi}U_{0})^{2} + U_{0}^{2}(-8\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi + (\partial_{\phi}\phi)^{2} + 4\partial_{\phi}\phi) + (\partial_{t}\phi)^{2} + 2\partial_{\phi}U_{0}(U_{0}(-4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + 3\partial_{\phi}\phi) + \partial_{t}\phi)$$

$$+2U_{0}(2\partial_{\phi}^{2}U_{0} + (-4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + \partial_{\phi}\phi)\partial_{t}\phi + 2\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\phi))] + e^{4\phi}\ell^{2}U_{0}^{2}[e^{2\beta_{0}}M + \ell^{2}((\partial_{\phi}U_{0})^{2} + U_{0}^{2}(-4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi + (\partial_{\phi}\phi)^{2} + 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi) + 2\partial_{\phi}\phi\partial_{t}U_{0} + \partial_{t}\phi(-4\partial_{t}\beta_{0} + \partial_{t}\phi) + 2\partial_{\phi}U_{0}(2U_{0}(-\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + \partial_{\phi}\phi) - 2\partial_{t}\beta_{0} + \partial_{t}\phi) + 2\partial_{\phi}U_{0}(2U_{0}(-\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + \partial_{\phi}\phi) + 2(\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\phi) + 2(\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\psi) + 2(\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\psi) + 2(\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\psi) + 2\partial_{\phi}\partial_{\phi}\partial_{\phi}\phi$$

$$-2\partial_{t}\beta_{0} + \partial_{t}\phi) + 2U_{0}(\partial_{\phi}^{2}U_{0} - 2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{t}\phi + \partial_{\phi}\phi(-2\partial_{t}\beta_{0} + \partial_{t}\phi) + 2\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\phi) + 2(\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\psi) + 2(\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\psi) + 2(\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\psi) + 2(\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\psi) + 2(\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\psi) + 2(\partial_{\phi}\partial_{\phi}\psi) + 2\partial_{\phi}\partial_{\phi}\phi + 2\partial_{\phi}\partial_{\phi}\phi)$$

$$-\partial_{t}\partial_{\phi}\phi] + e^{2\phi}\ell^{2}U_{0}[-e^{2\beta_{0}}M - \ell^{2}((\partial_{\phi}U_{0})^{2} + U_{0}^{2}(-4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi + (\partial_{\phi}\phi)^{2} + 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi) + 2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{t}\phi + 2\partial_{\phi}\psi\partial_{t}U_{0} + 2$$

$$T_{\phi\phi} = \frac{1}{16\pi G\ell} e^{-4\beta_0 + 2\varphi} \{ e^{2\beta_0} \ell^2 M + \ell^4 [(\partial_{\phi} U_0)^2 + U_0^2 (-4\partial_{\phi} \beta_0 \partial_{\phi} \varphi + (\partial_{\phi} \varphi)^2 + 2\partial_{\phi}^2 \varphi) + 2\partial_{\phi} \varphi \partial_t U_0 + \partial_t \varphi (-4\partial_t \beta_0 + \partial_t \varphi) + 2\partial_{\phi} U_0 (2U_0 (-\partial_{\phi} \beta_0 + \partial_{\phi} \varphi) - 2\partial_t \beta_0 + \partial_t \varphi) + 2U_0 (\partial_{\phi}^2 U_0 - 2\partial_{\phi} \beta_0 \partial_t \varphi) + \partial_{\phi} \varphi (-2\partial_t \beta_0 + \partial_t \varphi) + 2\partial_t \partial_{\phi} \varphi) + 2\partial_t \partial_{\phi} \varphi (-2\partial_t \beta_0 + \partial_t \varphi) + 2\partial_t \partial_{\phi} \varphi) + 2\partial_t \partial_{\phi} U_0 + \partial_t^2 \varphi) \}.$$
(3.14)

One can check on the right-hand-side expressions that the trace condition given by the first equation of (2.8) is satisfied.

Taking $U_0=0,\,eta_0=0$ and $oldsymbol{arphi}=ar{oldsymbol{\phi}}$ (three-dimensional analogue of the boundary gauge fixing of [38]), T_{ab} reduces to

$$T_{ab} = \frac{1}{16\pi G\ell} \begin{pmatrix} M - \ell^2 (\partial_t \bar{\varphi})^2 & 2N + 2\ell^2 \partial_t \partial_{\phi} \bar{\varphi} \\ 2N + 2\ell^2 \partial_t \partial_{\phi} \bar{\varphi} & e^{2\bar{\varphi}} \ell^2 [M + \ell^2 ((\partial_t \bar{\varphi})^2 + 2\partial_t^2 \bar{\varphi})] \end{pmatrix}. \tag{3.15}$$

It would be interesting to pursue the study of various boundary gauge-fixed energy-momentum tensors in terms of Bondi data.

Residual gauge parameters matching

Using the diffeomorphism (3.2-3.4), the parameters of the residual gauge diffeomorphisms of

the Fefferman–Graham gauge (2.4) are related to those of the Bondi gauge (2.17–2.19) as 12

$$\xi_0^t = f, \tag{3.16}$$

$$\xi_0^{\phi} = Y, \tag{3.17}$$

$$\sigma = \partial_{\phi} Y - \omega - U_0 \partial_{\phi} f + Y \partial_{\phi} \varphi + f \partial_t \varphi. \tag{3.18}$$

3.2 From Bondi to Derivative Expansion

We would like now to set up an important result, which is the bridge between the Bondi gauge and the derivative expansion. We firstly show that the Bondi solution space is actually embedded in that of the derivative expansion, and then explicitly construct the diffeomorphism that enables us to pass from the one to the other.

Bondi gauge as a sub-gauge of the derivative expansion

For $u_{\phi} = 0$, which is the additional constraint needed for a definite gauge fixing in the derivative expansion, the following identifications apply between the derivative-expansion and Bondi solution spaces:

$$u_u = -\frac{1}{\ell^2} e^{2\beta_0},\tag{3.19}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{\phi\phi} = e^{2\varphi},\tag{3.20}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{uu} = -\frac{e^{4\beta_0}}{\ell^2} + e^{2\phi}U_0^2, \tag{3.21}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{u\phi} = -e^{2\phi}U_0, \tag{3.22}$$

$$\chi = \frac{1}{4\pi G\ell} e^{-\varphi} N,\tag{3.23}$$

$$\varepsilon = \frac{1}{8\pi G} (e^{-2\beta_0} M + 4e^{-2\phi} (\partial_{\phi} \beta_0)^2). \tag{3.24}$$

The Bondi gauge turns out to be equivalent to the derivative expansion, locked in a specific hydrodynamic frame corresponding to $u_{\phi} = 0$. Different frames are encoded in different values of u_{ϕ} , which is the extra parameter present in the derivative expansion. The last two equations, (3.23) and (3.24) show that the heat density χ is proportional to the angular momentum aspect N, while the fluid energy density ε is simply related to the Bondi mass M.¹³

Coordinate transformation

We now match the Bondi gauge to the derivative expansion letting the fluid velocity free (i.e. $u_{\phi} \neq 0$). Let us perform the following diffeomorphism from Bondi to derivative expansion:

$$u_B = u + T_1[u, \phi; u_{\phi}(u, \phi)]r^{-1} + T_2[u, \phi; u_{\phi}(u, \phi)]r^{-2} + T_3[u, \phi; u_{\phi}(u, \phi)]r^{-3} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-4}), (3.25)$$

$$r_B^{-1} = r^{-1} + R_2[u, \phi; u_\phi(u, \phi)]r^{-2} + R_3[u, \phi; u_\phi(u, \phi)]r^{-3} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-4}), \tag{3.26}$$

$$\phi_B = \phi + Z_1[u,\phi;u_\phi(u,\phi)]r^{-1} + Z_2[u,\phi;u_\phi(u,\phi)]r^{-2} + Z_3[u,\phi;u_\phi(u,\phi)]r^{-3} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-4})(3.27)$$

¹²The matching is obtained comparing the leading order of the transformed residual gauge diffeomorphisms only. To map the full residual vector of one gauge to the full residual vector of the other, one needs to take into account the metric-fields dependence of the diffeomorphism – see [103].

¹³This property is generically valid in higher dimension. In three dimensions, this interpretation of the boundary-fluid data was discussed in [57], in relation with the bulk surface charges.

where (u_B, r_B, ϕ_B) are the Bondi coordinates and (u, r, ϕ) are the derivative expansion coordinates. Notice that the functions of the diffeomorphisms depend on one parameter $u_{\phi}(u,\phi)$, and are all identically zero when $u_{\phi} = 0$ since we are already in the Bondi gauge in this case. For the sake of completeness, we report here the leading order of the diffeomorphisms, 14 defining $\mathcal{N} = \sqrt{1 + e^{-2\phi} \ell^2 u_{\phi}^2}$ (for $u_{\phi} = 0$, $\mathcal{N} = 1$)

$$T_1(u,\phi) = -e^{-2\beta_0}\ell^2(\mathcal{N}-1),$$
 (3.28)

$$Z_1(u,\phi) = -e^{-2(\beta_0 + \varphi)} \ell^2 \left(e^{2\beta_0} u_\phi + e^{2\varphi} U_0(\mathcal{N} - 1) \right)$$
(3.29)

$$R_{2}(u,\phi) = -\frac{\ell^{2}}{\mathscr{N}}e^{-2(\varphi+\beta_{0})} \left(2e^{2\beta_{0}}\mathscr{N}u_{\phi}\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + e^{2\beta_{0}}\mathscr{N}\partial_{\phi}u_{\phi} - e^{2\beta_{0}}\mathscr{N}u_{\phi}\partial_{\phi}\varphi + U_{0}\left(\ell^{2}u_{\phi}\partial_{\phi}u_{\phi} - (\mathscr{N}-1)e^{2\varphi}\partial_{\phi}\varphi\right) + \partial_{\phi}U_{0}\left(\ell^{2}u_{\phi}^{2} - (\mathscr{N}-1)e^{2\varphi}\right) + \ell^{2}u_{\phi}\partial_{u}u_{\phi} - e^{2\varphi}\partial_{u}\varphi(\mathscr{N}-1)\right).$$

$$(3.30)$$

$$u_u = -U_0 u_\phi - \frac{1}{\rho^2} e^{2\beta_0 - \varphi} \sqrt{e^{2\varphi} + \ell^2 u_\phi^2}, \tag{3.31}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{\phi\phi} = e^{2\phi},\tag{3.32}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{uu} = -\frac{1}{\ell^2} e^{4\beta_0} + e^{2\phi} U_0^2, \tag{3.33}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{u\phi} = -e^{2\phi}U_0. \tag{3.34}$$

 $Z_1(u,\phi) = -e^{-2(\beta_0+\phi)}\ell^2\left(e^{2\beta_0}u_\phi + e^{2\phi}U_0(\mathcal{N}-1)\right) \tag{3.29}$ $R_2(u,\phi) = -\frac{\ell^2}{\mathcal{N}}e^{-2(\phi+\beta_0)}\left(2e^{2\beta_0}\mathcal{N}u_\phi\partial_\phi\beta_0 + e^{2\beta_0}\mathcal{N}\partial_\phi u_\phi - e^{2\beta_0}\mathcal{N}u_\phi\partial_\phi\phi + U_0\left(\ell^2u_\phi\partial_\phi u_\phi - (\mathcal{N}-1)e^{2\phi}\partial_\phi\phi\right) + \partial_\phi U_0\left(\ell^2u_\phi^2 - (\mathcal{N}-1)e^{2\phi}\right) + \ell^2u_\phi\partial_u u_\phi - e^{2\phi}\partial_u\phi(\mathcal{N}-1)\right). \tag{3.30}$ Solution space matching $We \text{ are now ready to make the following identification between the solution space of the derivative expansion (left-hand side) and of the Bondi gauge (right-hand side): <math display="block">u_u = -U_0u_\phi - \frac{1}{\ell^2}e^{2\beta_0-\phi}\sqrt{e^{2\phi}+\ell^2u_\phi^2}, \qquad (3.31)$ $\tilde{g}_{\phi\phi} = e^{2\phi}, \qquad (3.32)$ $\tilde{g}_{uu} = -\frac{1}{\ell^2}e^{4\beta_0} + e^{2\phi}U_0^2, \qquad (3.33)$ $\tilde{g}_{u\phi} = -e^{2\phi}U_0. \qquad (3.34)$ The expressions of χ and ε in terms of the Bondi solution space are lengthy and we do not write them explicitly – they can be found in the attached Mathematica file Appendix . nb written explicitly in the sub-case $U_0 = 0 = \beta_0$. The expressions of u_u , \tilde{g}_{ab} , χ and ε in terms of the Bondi functions depend on the parameter $u_\phi(u,\phi)$. They reduce to (3.19-3.24) when $u_\phi = 0$, as they should. As anticipated, the infinitesimal form of (3.25-3.27) is generated by H_ϕ , the function introduced in section 2.3 as generator of residual gauge diffeomorphism. This is consistent, since it is duced in section 2.3 as generator of residual gauge diffeomorphism. This is consistent, since it is indeed H_{ϕ} that generates u_{ϕ} .

Residual gauge parameters matching

The parameters of the residual gauge diffeomorphisms of the derivative expansion are related to those of the Bondi gauge as

$$F = f, (3.35)$$

$$\mathscr{Y} = Y, \tag{3.36}$$

$$R = -\partial_{\phi}Y + \omega + U_0\partial_{\phi}f - Y\partial_{\phi}\varphi - f\partial_{\mu}\varphi, \tag{3.37}$$

and H_{ϕ} has no equivalent in Bondi gauge, since it is associated with a shift of u_{ϕ} , zero in the latter.

¹⁴The subleading functions are in the Mathematica file Appendix.nb.

3.3 Derivative Expansion and Fefferman-Graham

Solution space matching

The solution space of Bondi gauge has been identified with the solution space of Fefferman—Graham gauge and the solution space of derivative expansion. Therefore, this automatically leads to an identification of the solution spaces between Fefferman—Graham (left-hand side) and derivative expansion (right-hand side), without further computation:

$$g_{ab}^{(0)} = \tilde{g}_{ab}, \tag{3.38}$$

$$T_{ab} = \frac{\ell}{2} (\mathscr{T}_{ab} + D_{ab}), \tag{3.39}$$

where \mathcal{T}_{ab} is the energy–momentum tensor (2.37) and D_{ab} is given in (2.39).

Recalling that the derivative expansion has six independent parameters while the Fefferman–Graham gauge has only five, we see that the various degrees of freedom have been shuffled in moving from one gauge to the other. The first equation matches the same number of pieces of data on both side, while the second matches two pieces of data on the left (the tensor T_{ab} is symmetric and traceless) with three pieces of data on the right (ε , χ and the normalized velocity u^a). We conclude that we have a redundant description of the Fefferman–Graham data in terms of the fluid ones. To fix this redundancy one has to make a choice of fluid frame, which is exactly what we did to recover the Bondi gauge. Another way to verify the validity of equation (3.39) is to compute the holographic energy–momentum tensor of the derivative expansion using the Balasubramanian–Kraus method, that we know gives exactly T_{ab} in the Fefferman–Graham gauge. This was done in [57].

Residual gauge parameters matching

The parameters of the residual gauge diffeomorphisms of the Fefferman–Graham gauge are related to those of the derivative expansion as

$$\xi_0^t = F,\tag{3.40}$$

$$\xi_0^{\phi} = \mathscr{Y},\tag{3.41}$$

$$\sigma = -R, \tag{3.42}$$

and H_{ϕ} has no equivalent, as u_{ϕ} does not appear in Fefferman–Graham gauge.

3.4 Holographic-Fluid Interpretation

As we have seen, for asymptotically locally three-dimensional AdS spacetimes, the Bondi gauge is reached from the fluid/gravity side by setting $u_{\phi} = 0$ in the derivative expansion. The relativistic velocity vector is then given by

$$u^{a}\partial_{a} = e^{-2\beta_{0}} \left(\partial_{u} + U_{0}\partial_{\phi}\right), \tag{3.43}$$

whereas, as observed in (3.23) and (3.24), the heat density is proportional to the angular momentum aspect and the fluid energy density is related to the Bondi mass. Regarding the Bondi parameter

 U_0 , setting it to zero as it occasionally happens in the literature, amounts to describing a boundary fluid comoving with the natural frame of $\{u, \phi\}$.

We would like now to discuss more extensively the role of the velocity field. The redundancy of the fluid velocity in relativistic hydrodynamics, revealed originally by Eckart in the thirties, was formally introduced in [94], and more recently discussed in [95–98]. The argument is based on the simple fact that the energy and mass flows are indistinguishable in relativistic systems. What matters is the energy–momentum tensor, the conserved currents (if any) and the entropy current, which do not carry any intrinsic information on a velocity field, and are therefore insensitive to it. The latter appears as an organizing artifice, which allows the decomposition of vectors and tensors in longitudinal and transverse components.

More concretely, a change of hydrodynamic frame is a local Lorentz boost acting on the fluid velocity u^a . In two dimensions, it is parametrized in the following way

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_a' \\ \star u_a' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh \psi & \sinh \psi \\ \sinh \psi & \cosh \psi \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_a \\ \star u_a \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.44}$$

where ψ is any function of the boundary coordinates u and ϕ . Infinitesimally (the suffix L stands for Lorentz)

$$\delta_{L} \begin{pmatrix} u_{a} \\ \star u_{a} \end{pmatrix} = \psi \begin{pmatrix} \star u_{a} \\ u_{a} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.45}$$

producing

$$\delta_{\mathbf{L}}\Theta = \star u^{a}\partial_{a}\psi + \Theta^{\star}\psi, \quad \delta_{\mathbf{L}}\Theta^{\star} = u^{a}\partial_{a}\psi + \Theta\psi. \tag{3.46}$$

A change of hydrodynamic frame should leave the energy–momentum tensor invariant. Therefore (3.44) should be accompanied by a change in the energy density ε and the heat current χ , see (2.37), so that the total energy–momentum tensor, i.e. $\mathcal{T}_{ab} + D_{ab}$ is unchanged.¹⁵ In the same way we have decomposed the tensor \mathcal{T}_{ab} into a energy density and a heat current (the trace being fixed by the geometry), we define the total energy density $\tilde{\varepsilon}$ and the total heat current $\tilde{\chi}$ in the following way – see [57]

$$\mathscr{T}_{ab} + D_{ab} = 2\ell^2 \tilde{\varepsilon} u_a u_b + \tilde{\varepsilon} \tilde{g}_{ab} + \tau_{ab} + \ell^2 u_a \tilde{q}_b + \ell^2 u_b \tilde{q}_a, \tag{3.47}$$

where $\tilde{q}_a = \tilde{\chi} \star u_a$ and $\tau_{ab} = \ell^2 \tau \star u_a \star u_b$. The latter is unchanged since D_{ab} is traceless. One can derive the expressions of $\tilde{\varepsilon}$ and $\tilde{\chi}$ in terms of ε and χ :

$$\tilde{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon + \frac{\ell^2}{8\pi G} (u^a \partial_a \Theta + \star u^a \partial_a \Theta^*) - \frac{\tilde{R}}{16\pi G}, \tag{3.48}$$

$$\tilde{\chi} = \chi - \frac{\ell^2}{4\pi G} \star u^a \partial_a \Theta. \tag{3.49}$$

Under the transformation (3.45), the total energy–momentum tensor is left invariant if

$$\delta_{L} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\varepsilon} \\ \tilde{\chi} \end{pmatrix} = -2\psi \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\chi} \\ \tilde{\varepsilon} \end{pmatrix} - \psi \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \tau \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.50}$$

¹⁵Notice that a change of hydrodynamic frame has no effect on the geometry on which the fluid lies, in other words, it does not affect the boundary metric.

while $\delta_L \tau = 0$ because $\tau = \frac{\tilde{R}}{8\pi G}$. Applied to (3.48) and (3.49), the transformation rules (3.45), (3.46) and (3.50) lead to the actual energy and heat-density variations. Finally, comparing the resulting transformations with (2.52) and (2.53), one finds that they match when

$$\xi_{(0)}^a = 0, \quad R = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad H_a = -\psi \star u_a.$$
 (3.51)

Imposing (3.51), the diffeomorphism (2.48) and (2.49) is a Lorentz boost on the boundary that leaves the total energy–momentum tensor unchanged.

We would like finally to comment on the global aspects associated with the hydrodynamic frame transformations. Actually, a change of hydrodynamic frame is a *local* Lorentz boost, i.e. a *gauge* transformation, and as such this invariance could possibly exhibit global drawbacks. Holography, as used here, provides the appropriate tool for investigating them. This was part of the agenda of [57], and consists in computing the bulk conserved charges and their associated algebras, and analyzing their sensitivity to the choice of hydrodynamic frame on the boundary. The conclusion of [57] was unambiguous: AdS₃ spacetimes dual to fluids with or without heat current, but with identical energy–momentum tensor, have different conserved charges, obeying different algebras. A similar property holds in the flat limit and will be discussed in section 4.4. The open question is whether the bulk diffeomorphism that we have discussed in the present section, associated with local Lorentz boosts on the boundary, is charged or not. The answer to this question would make the above claim sharper.

4. Ricci-Flat Limit

In this section, we investigate the flat limit $(\ell \to \infty)$ of the results obtained in sections 2 and 3, i.e. the gauge fixings, the solution spaces, the residual diffeomorphisms as well as the embedding of the Bondi gauge into the derivative expansion. This limit is well-defined in the Bondi gauge and in the derivative expansion, while the Fefferman–Graham gauge blows up due to the component $g_{\rho\rho} = \frac{\ell^2}{\rho^2}$. As we will explain shortly, a subtle point is here the necessity of prescribing the large- ℓ behavior for the data in the derivative expansion before taking the limit.

4.1 Bondi Gauge

The definition of the Bondi gauge (2.13,2.14) and the associated off-shell residual gauge diffeomorphisms (2.17-2.19) are valid irrespective of the value of ℓ . In the following, we investigate the solution space and the on-shell residual gauge diffeomorphism in the Ricci-flat case, i.e. for infinite ℓ . This extends previous analysis to generic boundary data, i.e. asymptotically locally flat spacetimes.

Solution space

In three dimensions, the full solution space in Bondi gauge for vanishing cosmological constant can be readily obtained by taking the flat limit of the solution space obtained in section 2.2 for non-vanishing cosmological constant. In practice, we take $\frac{1}{\ell} \to 0$ in the equations. The equation $G_{rr}=0$ gives

$$\beta = \beta_0(u, \phi) \tag{4.1}$$

Solving $G_{r\phi} = 0$ leads to

$$U = U_0(u,\phi) + \frac{1}{r} 2e^{2\beta_0} e^{-2\varphi} \partial_{\phi} \beta_0 - \frac{1}{r^2} e^{2\beta_0} e^{-2\varphi} N(u,\phi). \tag{4.2}$$

Solving $G_{ur} = 0$ gives

$$\frac{V}{r} = -2r(\partial_u \varphi + D_\phi U_0) + M(u, \phi) + \frac{1}{r} 4e^{2\beta_0} e^{-2\varphi} N \partial_\phi \beta_0 - \frac{1}{r^2} e^{2\beta_0} e^{-2\varphi} N^2, \tag{4.3}$$

where $D_{\phi}U_0 = \partial_{\phi}U_0 + \partial_{\phi}\varphi U_0$. Taking into account the previous results, the Einstein equation $G_{\phi\phi} = 0$ is satisfied at all orders. Finally, we solve the Einstein equations giving the time evolution constraints on M and N. The equation $G_{u\phi} = 0$ gives

$$(\partial_{u} + \partial_{u}\varphi)N = \left(\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\phi} + \partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\right)M - 2N\partial_{\phi}U_{0} - U_{0}(\partial_{\phi}N + N\partial_{\phi}\varphi)$$

$$+4e^{2\beta_{0}}e^{-2\varphi}[2(\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})^{3} - (\partial_{\phi}\varphi)(\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})^{2} + (\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})(\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0})],$$

$$(4.4)$$

whereas $G_{uu} = 0$ results in

$$\partial_{u}M = (-2\partial_{u}\varphi + 2\partial_{u}\beta_{0} - 2\partial_{\phi}U_{0} + U_{0}2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - U_{0}2\partial_{\phi}\varphi - U_{0}\partial_{\phi})M - 2e^{2\beta_{0}}e^{-2\varphi}\{\partial_{\phi}U_{0}[8(\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})^{2} + (\partial_{\phi}\varphi)^{2} - 4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\varphi + 4\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} - 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\varphi] - \partial_{\phi}^{3}U_{0} + U_{0}[\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}(8\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} - 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\varphi) + 2\partial_{\phi}^{3}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}^{3}\varphi + \partial_{\phi}\varphi(-2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} + \partial_{\phi}\varphi)] + 2\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}(4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}\varphi) + \partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\varphi(-2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + \partial_{\phi}\varphi) + 2\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} - \partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}^{2}\varphi\}.$$

$$(4.5)$$

The solution space is thus characterized by five arbitrary functions of (u, ϕ) , given by β_0 , U_0 , M, N, φ , with two dynamical constraints given by the time evolution equations of M and N.

Variation of the solution space

By a similar procedure, the on-shell residual gauge diffeomorphisms and the variations of the solution space are obtained by taking $\ell \to \infty$ in the expressions (2.25-2.27) and (2.28-2.32), respectively. The on-shell residual gauge diffeomorphisms are given by

$$\xi^u = f, \tag{4.6}$$

$$\xi^{\phi} = Y - \frac{1}{n} \partial_{\phi} f e^{2\beta_0 - 2\varphi},\tag{4.7}$$

$$\xi^{r} = -r[\partial_{\phi}Y - \omega - U_{0}\partial_{\phi}f + Y\partial_{\phi}\varphi + f\partial_{u}\varphi]$$

$$+e^{2\beta_{0}-2\varphi}(\partial_{\phi}^{2}f - \partial_{\phi}f\partial_{\phi}\varphi + 4\partial_{\phi}f\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}) - \frac{1}{r}e^{2\beta_{0}-2\varphi}\partial_{\phi}fN.$$

$$(4.8)$$

Under these residual gauge diffeomorphisms, the unconstrained part of the solution space transforms as

$$\delta_{\xi} \varphi = \omega, \tag{4.9}$$

$$\delta_{\xi}\beta_{0} = (f\partial_{u} + Y\partial_{\phi})\beta_{0} + \left(\frac{1}{2}\partial_{u} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{u}\varphi + U_{0}\partial_{\phi}\right)f - \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\phi}Y + Y\partial_{\phi}\varphi - \omega), \tag{4.10}$$

$$\delta_{\xi}U_0 = (f\partial_u + Y\partial_{\phi} - \partial_{\phi}Y)U_0 - \partial_u Y + U_0(\partial_u f + U_0 \partial_{\phi} f), \tag{4.11}$$

while the constrained part transforms as

$$\begin{split} \delta_{\xi}N &= (f\partial_{u} + Y\partial_{\phi} + 2\partial_{\phi}Y + f\partial_{u}\phi + Y\partial_{\phi}\phi - \omega - 2U_{0}\partial_{\phi}f)N + M\partial_{\phi}f - e^{2\beta_{0} - 2\phi}[3\partial_{\phi}^{2}f(2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}\phi) \\ &+ \partial_{\phi}f(4(\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})^{2} - 8\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi + 2(\partial_{\phi}\phi)^{2} + 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi) + \partial_{\phi}^{3}f], \end{split} \tag{4.12}$$

$$\delta_{\xi}M &= (\partial_{u}f + f\partial_{u}\phi + \partial_{\phi}Y + Y\partial_{\phi}\phi - \omega)M - 2e^{2\beta_{0} - 2\phi}\left[2\partial_{\phi}^{2}f\partial_{u}\beta_{0} + 4\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}f\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + \partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}^{2}f + \partial_{\phi}^{2}f\partial_{\phi}U_{0} + 8\partial_{\phi}^{2}f\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}U_{0} + \partial_{\phi}f\left((4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - \partial_{\phi}\phi)(2\partial_{u}\beta_{0} - \partial_{u}\phi) + 4\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} + \partial_{\phi}U_{0}(8\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0} - 2\partial_{\phi}\phi) - \partial_{\phi}^{2}U_{0} - 2\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\phi + U_{0}(-4\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi + 8(\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0})^{2} + 4\partial_{\phi}^{2}\beta_{0} + (\partial_{\phi}\phi)^{2} - 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi)\right) - 2\partial_{\phi}^{2}fU_{0}\partial_{\phi}\phi + \partial_{\phi}^{3}fU_{0} - \partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}f\partial_{\phi}\phi - \partial_{\phi}^{2}f\partial_{u}\phi - 2f\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}\phi + 2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}\omega - 2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}Y\partial_{\phi}\phi - 2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}\partial_{\phi}^{2}Y - 2\partial_{\phi}\beta_{0}Y\partial_{\phi}^{2}\phi\right] - \partial_{u}\partial_{\phi}f\partial_{\phi}\phi + \partial_{\phi}MY. \tag{4.13}$$

We can impose an equivalent of the Brown-Henneaux boundary condition in flat space by asking

$$\varphi = 0, \quad \beta_0 = 0, \quad U_0 = 0.$$
 (4.14)

The first one fixes ω to be zero, the second and third ones lead to two equations on f and Y

$$\partial_u f = \partial_\phi Y, \quad \partial_u Y = 0.$$
 (4.15)

The solutions to these two equations describe the so-called BMS₃ algebra. The asymptotic Killing is then uniquely specified by a couple (f,Y) belonging to BMS₃.

4.2 Carrollian Fluid/Gravity Derivative Expansion

We study here the flat limit of the derivative expansion. Following [58], this is performed without calling for a specific parametrization of the boundary geometry. The salient features of this analysis are (i) the appearance of a two-dimensional boundary for asymptotically flat spacetimes, located at null infinity and equipped with a Carrollian structure; (ii) the emergence of a Carrollian fluid, obeying Carrollian hydrodynamics, and carrying the degrees of freedom dual to the flat bulk spacetime.

Flat limit of the bulk metric

The behavior of the various relativistic boundary tensors in the $\ell \to \infty$ limit is not universal. Nonetheless, some properties are, such as the fact that the velocity is becoming null-like and the boundary metric degenerates [57]. Inspired by the explicit results in this reference, and in line

with [58], 16 we set:

$$\mu_a = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \ell^2 u_a,\tag{4.16}$$

$$v^a = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} u^a,\tag{4.17}$$

$$v_{\star}^{a} = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \ell \star u^{a}, \tag{4.18}$$

$$\mu_a^* = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \ell \star u_a, \tag{4.19}$$

$$\alpha = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \ell \chi,\tag{4.20}$$

$$\varepsilon = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \varepsilon. \tag{4.21}$$

The boundary metric reads

$$\tilde{g}_{ab} = \ell^2 (-u_a u_b + \star u_a \star u_b). \tag{4.22}$$

Hence, we gather in the $\ell \to \infty$ limit

$$\star \mu_a \star \mu_b = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \tilde{g}_{ab}. \tag{4.23}$$

The flat limit leads therefore to a degenerate boundary metric. This is the well-known ultrarelativistic limit, named Carrollian in [59], and emerging generally as the geometry of null hypersurfaces (here null infinity) [61–73] (see also section 4.4). We can also define a density

$$\mathscr{D} = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \ell \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} = |\varepsilon^{ab} \mu_a \mu_b^{\star}|, \tag{4.24}$$

which allows expressing the composed quantities

$$\Xi = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \Theta = \partial_a v^a + v^a \partial_a \ln \mathcal{D}, \tag{4.25}$$

$$\Xi^{\star} = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \ell \Theta^{\star} = \partial_a v_{\star}^a + v_{\star}^a \partial_a \ln \mathscr{D}, \tag{4.26}$$

and

$$\mathscr{A}_a = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} A_a = \mu_a^* \Xi^* - \mu_a \Xi. \tag{4.27}$$

From the functions $(u_a, \tilde{g}_{ab}, \varepsilon, \chi)$ parametrizing the derivative expansion in the asymptotically locally AdS₃ case, where u^a is normalized as $u^a \tilde{g}_{ab} u^b = -\frac{1}{\ell^2}$, and ε and χ satisfy time evolution equations, we get the following set of functions in the Ricci-flat limit: $(\mu_a, v^a, v^a_\star, \mu_a^\star, \alpha, \varepsilon)$. Let us now determine the constrains between these objects, induced from AdS. Firstly, defining the tensors

$$\mathscr{D}_{ab} = \mathscr{D}\varepsilon_{ab}, \qquad \mathscr{D}^{ab} = -\mathscr{D}^{-1}\varepsilon^{ab}, \tag{4.28}$$

the duality relations give

$$\ell \star u_a = \ell \eta_{ab} u^b \quad \xrightarrow{\ell \to \infty} \quad \mu_a^{\star} = \mathcal{D}_{ab} v^b, \tag{4.29}$$

$$\ell \star u_{a} = \ell \eta_{ab} u^{b} \qquad \qquad \mu_{a}^{\star} = \mathcal{D}_{ab} v^{b}, \qquad (4.29)$$

$$\ell \star u^{a} = \ell \eta^{ab} u_{b} \qquad \qquad \psi_{\star}^{a} = \mathcal{D}^{ab} \mu_{b}, \qquad (4.30)$$

$$\ell^{2} u_{a} = \ell^{2} \eta_{ab} \star u^{b} \qquad \qquad \psi_{\leftarrow}^{a} = \mathcal{D}^{ab} v_{\star}^{b}, \qquad (4.31)$$

$$u^{a} = \eta^{ab} \star u_{b} \qquad \qquad \psi^{a} = \mathcal{D}^{ab} \mu_{b}^{\star}. \qquad (4.32)$$

$$\ell^2 u_a = \ell^2 \eta_{ab} \star u^b \quad \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \quad \mu_a = \mathcal{D}_{ab} v_{\star}^b, \tag{4.31}$$

$$u^{a} = \eta^{ab} \star u_{b} \quad \xrightarrow{\ell \to \infty} \quad v^{a} = \mathcal{D}^{ab} \mu_{b}^{\star}. \tag{4.32}$$

¹⁶In comparing with this reference, we should trade α for ζ (χ_{π} in [57]) and Ξ for θ .

Out of eight equations, we have four independent constraints. This can be seen imposing for instance $v_{\star}^{a} = \mathcal{D}^{ab} \mu_{b}$ and $v^{a} = \mathcal{D}^{ab} \mu_{b}^{\star}$. These four equations automatically imply the other four.

We now show that every other constraint arising in the limit does not imply new independent equations. First, projecting the previous expressions on the vectors v^a , v^a_{\star} and the forms μ_a , μ_a^{\star} , we obtain:

$$\mu_a^* v^a = 0, \qquad \mu_a^* v_\star^a = v_\star^a \mathcal{D}_{ab} v^b = 1,$$
 (4.33)

$$\mu_a v_{\star}^a = 0, \qquad \mu_a^{\star} v_{\star}^a = \mu_a^{\star} \mathcal{D}^{ab} \mu_b = 1, \tag{4.34}$$

$$\mu_a v_{\star}^a = 0, \qquad \mu_a v^a = v^a \mathcal{D}_{ab} v_{\star}^b = -1,$$
(4.35)

$$\mu_a^* v^a = 0, \qquad \mu_a v^a = \mu_a \mathcal{D}^{ab} \mu_b^* = -1.$$
 (4.36)

The normalization of u^a and its different equivalent avatars AdS lead to

$$\tilde{g}_{ab}u^a u^b = -\frac{1}{\ell^2} \quad \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \quad \mu_a^* v^a = 0, \tag{4.37}$$

$$\ell^2 \tilde{g}^{ab} u_a u_b = -1 \quad \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \quad \mu_a v^a = -1, \tag{4.38}$$

$$\ell^2 \tilde{g}_{ab} \star u_a \star u_b = 1 \quad \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \quad \mu_a^* v_{\star}^a = 1, \tag{4.39}$$

$$\tilde{g}^{ab} \star u_a \star u_b = \frac{1}{\ell^2} \quad \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \quad \mu_a^* v^a = 0, \tag{4.40}$$

and

$$\ell \tilde{g}_{ab} u^a \star u^b = 0 \quad \xrightarrow{a} \quad (\mu_a^{\star} v^a) (\mu_b^{\star} v_{\star}^b) = 0, \tag{4.41}$$

$$\ell \tilde{g}_{ab} u^a \star u^b = 0 \qquad \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \qquad (\mu_a^* v^a) (\mu_b^* v_\star^b) = 0, \tag{4.41}$$

$$\ell \tilde{g}^{ab} u_a \star u_b = 0 \qquad \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \qquad (\mu_a v^a) (\mu_b^* v^b) = 0. \tag{4.42}$$

Moreover, the relations between the vectors and their co-vectors yield

$$u_{a} = \tilde{g}_{ab}u^{b} \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \mu_{a}^{\star}v^{a} = 0,$$

$$u^{a} = \tilde{g}^{ab}u_{b} \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \mu_{a}v^{a} = -1,$$

$$(4.44)$$

$$u^{a} = \tilde{g}^{ab} u_{b} \xrightarrow{\ell \to \infty} \mu_{a} v^{a} = -1, \tag{4.44}$$

$$\ell \star u_a = \ell \tilde{g}_{ab} \star u^b \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{\ell \to \infty} \mu_a^* v_\star^a = 1, \tag{4.45}$$

$$\frac{1}{\ell} \star u^a = \frac{1}{\ell} \tilde{g}^{ab} \star u_b \quad \xrightarrow[\ell \to \infty]{} \quad \mu_a^* v^a = 0. \tag{4.46}$$

These equations are indeed all consequences of (4.29-4.32), leading to no further constraints. Notice that, using the dual relations, we have

$$\Xi = \mathcal{D}^{cd} \partial_c \mu_d^{\star}, \qquad \Xi^{\star} = \mathcal{D}^{cd} \partial_c \mu_d. \tag{4.47}$$

In summary, we have 10 functions in $(\mu_a, \nu^a, \nu^a_\star, \mu^\star_a, \alpha, \varepsilon)$, with 4 independent constraints, which makes a total of 6 independent functions. There is some freedom to decide which functions we keep free and which functions we fix through the constraints. We propose an interesting choice of parametrization inspired by the solution space in AdS, that makes the interpretation easier in the flat limit. We choose as free data $(\mu_a, \mu_a^{\star}, \alpha, \varepsilon)$. It is straightforward to see that this is actually a minimum choice of functions to re-construct the other functions (v^a, v_{\star}^a) through $v^a = \mathcal{D}^{ab} \mu_b^{\star}$ and $v_{\star}^a = \mathcal{D}^{ab} \mu_b$, and to satisfy the remaining constraints. As discussed in section 4.3, this specific parametrization is well-adapted to relate the derivative expansion with the Bondi gauge.

Under the above assumptions of behavior in ℓ , the derivative expansion (2.35) admits a well-defined flat limit. We obtain

$$ds_{\text{Flat}}^2 = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} ds_{\text{AdS}}^2 = 2\mu_a dx^a (dr + r \mathscr{A}_b dx^b) + r^2 \mu_a^{\star} \mu_b^{\star} dx^a dx^b + 8\pi G \mu_a (\varepsilon \mu_b + \alpha \mu_b^{\star}) dx^a dx^b. \tag{4.48}$$

Furthermore, the limit $\ell \to \infty$ of (2.40-2.41) gives the Ricci-flat Einstein equations for the metric (4.48)

$$(v^a \partial_a + 2\Xi)\varepsilon - \frac{1}{4\pi G} (v^a_{\star} \partial_a + 2\Xi^{\star}) (v^a_{\star} \partial_a \Xi - v^a \partial_a \Xi^{\star}) = 0, \tag{4.49}$$

$$(v_{+}^{a}\partial_{a} + 2\Xi^{*})\varepsilon + (v^{a}\partial_{a} + 2\Xi)\alpha = 0. \tag{4.50}$$

The bulk metric and the conservation equations follow a similar motive compared to anti de Sitter with $(\varepsilon, \chi, u_a, \star u_a)$ traded for $(\varepsilon, \alpha, \mu_a, \mu_a^{\star})$. As already mentioned, in the original AdS case, the bulk was locally AdS₃, the two-dimensional boundary pseudo-Riemannian, and the evolution equations were relativistic. In the case at hand, the bulk is three-dimensional locally Minkowski, whereas the boundary and the evolution equations are Carrollian.

On-shell residual gauge diffeomorphisms

We follow the same procedure as in the AdS case in order to determine the residual gauge diffeomorphisms of the Ricci flat derivative expansion (4.48). We start from the following ansatz:

$$\xi^{a} = \xi^{a}_{(0)} + \frac{1}{r}\xi^{a}_{(1)}, \quad \xi^{r} = rR + V + \frac{1}{r}W, \tag{4.51}$$

where $\xi_{(0)}^a = (F, \mathcal{Y})$, $\xi_{(1)}^a = (L, Z)$, R, V and W are functions of x^a . As for anti de Sitter, the form of these vectors is motivated by the expression of the residual gauge diffeomorphisms in Bondi gauge (4.6-4.8) and the gauge matching that will be established in section 4.3. The condition $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{rr} = 0$ leads to

$$\mu_a \xi_{(1)}^a = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad L = -\frac{\mu_\phi}{\mu_u} Z. \tag{4.52}$$

Now, let us consider the variations

$$\delta_{\mathcal{E}}\mu_a = h_a, \qquad \delta_{\mathcal{E}}\mu_a^{\star} = h_a^{\star}, \tag{4.53}$$

where we introduced the parameters h_a and h_a^* as functions of x^a . These functions are not all independent. Indeed, $\mathcal{L}_{\xi} g_{ab}|_{\text{order }r^2} = \delta_{\xi} (\mu_a^* \mu_b^*)$ gives

$$h_a^* = \mathcal{L}_{\xi_{(0)}} \mu_a^* + R \mu_a^*. \tag{4.54}$$

From $\delta_{\xi} \mu_a = \mathscr{L}_{\xi} g_{ra}|_{\text{order 1}}$, we get the two equations

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi_{(0)}}\mu_a + R\mu_a - h_a)\mathcal{D}^{ab}\mu_b^* = 0, \tag{4.55}$$

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\xi_{(0)}}\mu_a - h_a)\mathcal{D}^{ab}\mu_b - \xi_{(1)}^a\mu_a^* = 0. \tag{4.56}$$

Using (4.52), the second equation (4.56) leads to

$$\xi_{(1)}^{a} = [(\mathcal{L}_{\xi_{(0)}} \mu_b - h_b) \mathcal{D}^{bc} \mu_c] v_{\star}^{a}. \tag{4.57}$$

The first relation (4.55) allows us to derive¹⁷

$$\delta_{\xi} \ln \mathcal{D} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi(0)} \ln \mathcal{D} + 2R, \tag{4.58}$$

from which one can choose to express one parameter in terms of the other. We decide to express h_u as

$$h_{u} = \frac{\mu_{u}^{\star}h_{\phi}}{\mu_{\phi}^{\star}} + \frac{\mathcal{D}}{\mu_{\phi}^{\star}} \left(R + \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}} \ln \mathcal{D} - \nu_{\star}^{a} \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}} \mu_{a}^{\star} \right). \tag{4.59}$$

We then require $\mathscr{L}_{\xi} g_{ra}|_{\text{order }1/r^2} = 0$ and find

$$W = -4\pi G \alpha \xi_{(1)}^a \mu_a^{\star},\tag{4.60}$$

while $\mathscr{L}_{\xi}g_{ra}|_{\text{order }1/r}=\mathscr{L}_{\xi_{(1)}}\mu_{a}-\mu_{a}\xi_{(1)}^{b}\mu_{b}^{\star}\Xi^{\star}=0$ does not give further constraint. We turn our attention to the equations $\mathscr{L}_{\xi}g_{ab}|_{\text{order }r}=\delta_{\xi}(\mu_{a}\mathscr{A}_{b}+\mu_{b}\mathscr{A}_{a})$, which read

$$\delta_{\xi}(\mu_{a}\mathcal{A}_{b}+\mu_{b}\mathcal{A}_{a}) = \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}}(\mu_{a}\mathcal{A}_{b}+\mu_{b}\mathcal{A}_{a}) + \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(1)}}(\mu_{a}^{\star}\mu_{b}^{\star}) + R(\mu_{a}\mathcal{A}_{b}+\mu_{b}\mathcal{A}_{a}) + 2V\mu_{a}^{\star}\mu_{b}^{\star} + \partial_{a}R\mu_{b} + \partial_{b}R\mu_{a}.$$

$$(4.61)$$

Noticing that $v^a \mathcal{A}_a = \Xi$ and $v_{\star}^a \mathcal{A}_a = \Xi^{\star}$, imposing (4.55) and projecting (4.61) on v^a and v_{\star}^a , we gather¹⁸

$$v_{\star}^{a}v_{\star}^{b}(4.61) \Leftrightarrow V = -\partial_{a}\xi_{(1)}^{a} - \xi_{(1)}^{a}\partial_{a}\ln\mathcal{D}$$

$$\tag{4.62}$$

$$v^a v_\star^b \left(4.61\right) \Leftrightarrow v_\star^b \delta_\xi \mathscr{A}_b = v_\star^b \partial_b (v^a (\mathscr{L}_{\xi_{(0)}} \mu_a - h_a)) - v^b \partial_b (v_\star^a (\mathscr{L}_{\xi_{(0)}} \mu_a - h_a)) + v_\star^b \mathscr{L}_{\xi^{(0)}} \mathscr{A}_b (4.63)$$

$$v^{a}v^{b} (4.61) \Leftrightarrow v^{b} \delta_{\xi} \mathcal{A}_{b} = v^{a} \partial_{a} (v^{b} (\mathcal{L}_{\xi_{(0)}} \mu_{b} - h_{b})) + v^{b} \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}} \mathcal{A}_{b}.$$

$$(4.64)$$

The first equation constraints V, whereas, using the explicit expression for \mathcal{A}_a , (4.27), one can show that (4.63) and (4.64) are identities, which therefore do not infer additional constraints. There are two other sets of equations we need to solve, namely $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{ab}|_{\text{order }1} = \delta_{\xi}(8\pi G\varepsilon\mu_a\mu_b + 4\pi G\alpha(\mu_a\mu_b^* + \mu_b\mu_a^*))$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}g_{ab}|_{\text{order }1/r} = 0$. The latter gives two equations: one is automatically satisfied and the other is proportional to (4.50), thus also satisfied on-shell. The former encodes two independent equations, which give the variations of ε and α , as outlined in the next section.

Putting everything together, the family of residual gauge diffeomorphisms considered in (4.51) is explicitly given by

$$\xi^a = \xi^a_{(0)} + \frac{1}{r} \xi^a_{(1)},\tag{4.65}$$

$$\xi^{r} = rR - (\partial_{a} + \partial_{a} \ln \mathcal{D}) \xi^{a}_{(1)} - \frac{4}{r} \pi G \alpha \xi^{a}_{(1)} \mu^{\star}_{a}, \tag{4.66}$$

where $\xi^a_{(1)}$ is written in (4.57). These diffeomorphisms are parametrized by four arbitrary functions of (u, ϕ) given by $\xi^a_{(0)} = (F, \mathscr{Y})$, R and h_{ϕ} . Notice that there is an additional parameter h_{ϕ} compared

¹⁷The function \mathscr{D} is a density, therefore its Lie derivative has an additional divergence term: $\mathscr{L}_{\xi^{(0)}} \ln \mathscr{D} = \xi^a_{(0)} \partial_a \ln \mathscr{D} + \partial_a \xi^a_{(0)}$.

¹⁸We use identities like $v^a v^b_\star - v^b v^a_\star = \mathcal{D}^{ab}$, $v^a_\star \mu^\star_b - v^a \mu_b = \delta^a_b$, $\mu_a \mu^\star_b - \mu_b \mu^\star_a = \mathcal{D}_{ab}$ and $d\mathcal{D}_{ab} = \mathcal{D}_{ab} d \ln \mathcal{D}$.

to the residual gauge diffeomorphisms of the Bondi gauge (4.6-4.8). In particular, as discussed in section 4.3, we can at any moment set consistently $\mu_{\phi} = 0$ and $h_{\phi} = 0$, and obtain the Bondi residual gauge diffeomorphisms.

An alternative way to obtain (4.65-4.66) is to take directly the flat limit on the residual gauge diffeomorphisms (2.48-2.49) of the derivative expansion in AdS, with the appropriate falloffs in ℓ on the parameters:

$$\xi_{(0),\text{Flat}}^a = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \xi_{(0),\text{AdS}}^a,$$
 (4.67)

$$R_{\text{Flat}} = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} R_{\text{AdS}},\tag{4.68}$$

$$h_{\phi} = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \ell^2 H_{\phi}. \tag{4.69}$$

Doing so, we get exactly (4.65-4.66) in the flat limit.

Variation of the solution space

Under infinitesimal diffeomorphisms generated by (4.65-4.66), the first part of the solution space transforms as

$$\delta_{\xi} \mu_a^{\star} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi_{(0)}} \mu_a^{\star} + R \mu_a^{\star} \tag{4.70}$$

$$\delta_{\xi}\mu_a = h_a,\tag{4.71}$$

with h_u given by (4.59). By analogy with the anti-de Sitter situation, this is consistent with the fact that μ_{ϕ} will be the additional parameter that the derivative expansion possesses compared to the Bondi gauge; it is the Ricci-flat equivalent of the parameter u_{ϕ} . In section 4.4, the parameter μ_a (or equivalently v_{\star}^a) will be interpreted as the velocity of an ultra-relativistic fluid. The second part of the solutions space transforms as

$$\delta_{\xi}\alpha = -2\alpha R + \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}}\alpha + 2\varepsilon \xi^{a}_{(1)}\mu^{\star}_{a} + \frac{1}{4\pi G} \left(v^{a}_{\star} \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(1)}} \mathcal{A}_{a} - \Xi^{\star} v^{a} \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(1)}} \mu_{a} + V\Xi^{\star} + v^{b}_{\star} \partial_{b} V \right) (4.72)$$

$$\delta_{\xi}\varepsilon = -2\varepsilon R + \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(0)}}\varepsilon - \frac{1}{4\pi G} \left(v^a \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(1)}} \mathcal{A}_a - \Xi v^a \mathcal{L}_{\xi^{(1)}} \mu_a + V\Xi + v^b \partial_b V \right). \tag{4.73}$$

4.3 Gauge Matching

The Bondi gauge for locally flat spacetimes can be seen as a sub-gauge of the flat derivative expansion. We give here the dictionary relating the solution spaces and the parameters of the residual gauge diffeomorphisms.

Bondi gauge, derivative expansion and solution spaces matching

Imposing $\mu_{\phi} = 0$ in the Ricci-Flat derivative expansion (4.48), we are precisely in the Bondi

gauge. The two solution spaces are then identified as 19

$$\mu_u = -e^{2\beta_0},\tag{4.74}$$

$$\mu_u^{\star} = e^{\varphi} U_0, \tag{4.75}$$

$$\mu_{\phi}^{\star} = -e^{\varphi} \tag{4.76}$$

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{4\pi G} e^{-\varphi} N,\tag{4.77}$$

$$\varepsilon = \frac{1}{8\pi G} (e^{-2\beta_0} M + 4e^{-2\phi} (\partial_{\phi} \beta_0)^2). \tag{4.78}$$

Again, the Carrollian-fluid heat and energy densities are simply related to the angular momentum aspect and the Bondi mass.

As for anti de Sitter, we could go one step further by considering the diffeomorphism that maps the Bondi gauge to the derivarive expansion with arbitrary parameter μ_{ϕ} . In particular, the flat limit of the diffeomorphism considered in (3.25-3.25) would map the Bondi gauge to the derivative expansion with arbitrary μ_{ϕ} . As discussed above, the formula describing the solution space matchings through the diffeomorphism are lengthy and not illuminating.

Residual gauge parameters matching

The parameters of the residual gauge diffeomorphisms of the Ricci-flat derivative expansion are related to those of the Bondi gauge as

$$F = f, (4.79)$$

$$\mathcal{Y} = Y,\tag{4.80}$$

$$R = -\partial_{\phi}Y + \omega + U_0\partial_{\phi}f - Y\partial_{\phi}\varphi - f\partial_{\mu}\varphi, \tag{4.81}$$

and h_{ϕ} has no equivalent in Bondi gauge, since it is associated to shifts of μ_{ϕ} .

4.4 The Holographic Fluid Dual to Ricci-Flat Spacetimes

We would like to make some further comments regarding the boundary structure that emerges in the flat limit of the derivative expansion. We recall that in the AdS case, the bulk geometry described by the line element (2.35) is holographically dual to a relativistic fluid. The latter is caracterised by its energy density ε , its heat current χ , ²⁰ its velocity u^a and the boundary metric of the pseudo-Riemannian spacetime on which the fluid flows. The dynamics of the fluid is then captured by the conservation of the corresponding energy–momentum tensor (2.37).

What happens on the boundary when the flat limit is taken in the bulk, has been discussed from several perspectives, all converging towards the emergence of Carrollian geometry and Carrollian hydrodynamics. This has led to the study of Carrollian fluids precisely in this spirit [74], and to their use for unravelling flat holography from the fluid/gravity side [56–58]. Let us review how the logic goes, in the present three-dimensional paradigm.

¹⁹In the computations above, we assumed $\mathscr{D} = |\varepsilon^{ab}\mu_a\mu_b^{\star}| = \varepsilon^{ab}\mu_a\mu_b^{\star}$, i.e. $\varepsilon^{ab}\mu_a\mu_b^{\star}$ being positive. This fixes the relative signs and ambiguity in the comparison with the Bondi gauge.

²⁰We recall that the heat current is transverse to the fluid velocity, therefore in two dimensions, thanks to Hodge duality and without loss of generality, we can describe the heat current in terms of a scalar χ .

In locally flat spacetimes, as those found in the present work, we also have a set of boundary data, μ_a , μ_a^* , α and ε , and they also satisfy conservation equations (4.50). Remember that the boundary metric of AdS has the following behavior in the flat limit:

$$\tilde{g}_{ab} = \ell^2 (-u_a u_b + \star u_a \star u_b) \underset{\ell \to \infty}{\to} \mu_a^{\star} \mu_b^{\star} \equiv h_{ab}. \tag{4.82}$$

This metric possesses a kernel generated by the vector field v^a :

$$\mu_a^{\star} v^a = 0. \tag{4.83}$$

From the bulk side this is the signature that the boundary becomes null and that the induced metric is degenerate. Physically, this is an ultra-relativistic limit with ℓ^{-1} playing the role of the boundary velocity of light: the zero-c limit ($\ell \to \infty$) of a relativistic metric possesses a degenerate direction that coincides with the time. The right geometrical structure that emerges and replaces the pseudo-Riemannian metric is called a Carroll manifold – see e.g. [61] for a rigorous mathematical definition. It is formulated in terms of a degenerate metric, here h_{ab} , and a vector field that belongs to the kernel of the metric, here v^a .

Regarding the physical degrees of freedom and their description, we follow the paradigm of ordinary non-relativistic fluids. Those emerge in the Galilean limit of relativistic fluids, when $c \to \infty$. In the same manner, one can define Carrollian fluids that flow on Carroll manifolds and obey suitable conservation equations. In [74], the authors give a comprehensive description of Carrollian fluids and of their dynamics inherited from a controlled ultra-relativistic limit (see also [57] for the specific description of the two-dimensional case and [104] for an application to near-horizon physics).

In the situation at hand, the Carrollian fluid is characterized by its energy density ε , its Carrollian equivalent of the heat current α , its velocity v_{\star}^a and it flows on a Carroll manifold (h_{ab}, v^a) . The conservation equations satisfied by this fluid cannot be written as the conservation of an energy-momentum tensor, simply because there is no canonical Levi-Civita connection associated with a Carroll manifold. A consistent way to obtain them is what we have done here, i.e. write explicitly the relativistic fluid equations (2.40-2.41) and compute their ultra-relativistic limit, which on the boundary is equivalent to a $\ell \to \infty$ limit. We recall the result

$$(v^a \partial_a + 2\Xi)\varepsilon - \frac{1}{4\pi G} (v^a_{\star} \partial_a + 2\Xi^{\star}) (v^a_{\star} \partial_a \Xi - v^a \partial_a \Xi^{\star}) = 0, \tag{4.84}$$

$$(v_{\star}^{a}\partial_{a} + 2\Xi^{\star})\varepsilon + (v^{a}\partial_{a} + 2\Xi)\alpha = 0, \tag{4.85}$$

where Ξ and Ξ^* are simply first derivatives of μ_a^* and ν_\star^a . The lesson to be learned here is that, in three bulk dimensions, there is a non-trivial flat-space limit of fluid/gravity correspondence, and the dual to an asymptotically flat spacetime is a Carrollian fluid. Things go the same way in higher dimensions (see [56] for a study of the four-dimensional case).

It is remarkable that the notion of hydrodynamic frame, persists for Carrollian fluids. In the relativistic case we could use a local Lorentz boost to implement a field redefinition that leaves the fluid energy-momentum tensor invariant (therefore also its equations of motion). A similar transformation exists for Carrollian fluids, now carried by a local Carrollian boost. The latter is

reached by demanding the parameter ψ in the Lorentz boost (3.44) to scale as $\frac{\lambda}{\ell}$. Taking the $\ell \to \infty$ limit in the transformation law (3.45) of u^a and $\star u^a$, we obtain (the suffix C stands for Carroll):

$$\delta_{\mathcal{C}}\mu_a = \lambda \mu_a^{\star}, \quad \delta_{\mathcal{C}}\mu_a^{\star} = 0, \quad \delta_{\mathcal{C}}\nu^a = 0, \quad \delta_{\mathcal{C}}\nu_{\star}^a = \lambda \nu^a,$$
 (4.86)

resulting in

$$\delta_{\rm C}\Xi = 0, \quad \delta_{\rm C}\Xi^* = v^a \partial_a \lambda + \Xi \lambda.$$
 (4.87)

Using the scaling $\psi = \frac{\lambda}{\ell}$, one can compute the infinite- ℓ limit of equation (3.50), and deduce transformations for ε and α . The result coincides exactly with (4.73) for

$$\xi_{(0)}^a = 0, \quad R = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad h_a v_{\star}^a = -\lambda.$$
 (4.88)

This shows that (4.86) is the ultra-relativistic version of a change of hydrodynamic frame. Finally, as explained previously, the solution space of the flat Bondi gauge is included in the flat derivative expansion, therefore it is also dual to a Carrollian fluid whose data are given in the dictionary (4.74) to (4.78). As for anti de Sitter, the corresponding Carrollian fluid is in a particular fluid frame: the fluid velocity satisfies $v_{\star}^{u} = 0$, which can be reached by acting on the derivative expansion with a finite realization of a Carrollian boost.

5. Conclusions

We revisited in this presentation three-dimensional asymptotically locally AdS spacetimes with emphasis on the Fefferman–Graham and Bondi gauges, as well as on the fluid/gravity correspondence derivative expansion. In every instance, we described the solution space, derived the residual gauge diffeomorphisms and their action on the solution space. In particular, we showed that the solution spaces of the Fefferman–Graham and Bondi gauges are parametrized by five functions with two constrained time evolutions, while the solution space of the derivative expansion is parametrized by six functions with two constrained time evolutions. Furthermore, the residual gauge diffeomorphisms of the Fefferman–Graham and Bondi gauges are parametrized by three functions, while those of the derivative expansion are parametrized by four functions. We then showed how the gauges at hand are related to each other. The Bondi gauge can be embedded in the derivative expansion and corresponds to a particular choice of fluid frame ($u_{\phi} = 0$) from the point of view of the dual theory in the fluid/gravity correspondence. The additional parameter in the solution space of the derivative expansion is interpreted as the component u_{ϕ} of the fluid velocity, while the variations of the latter are generated by the additional parameter H_{ϕ} in the residual gauge diffeomorphisms, $\delta_{\mathcal{E}}u_{\phi} = H_{\phi}$.

Investigating the flat limit of the various items discussed within Bondi or fluid/gravity approaches was also part of our agenda. While taking the flat limit in the Bondi gauge is straightforward, we saw that this process was more involved in the derivative expansion and required additional input regarding the $1/\ell$ behavior. We showed that the flat limit of the anti-de Sitter bulk derivative expansion gives a Ricci-flat version of it (a *Carrollian-fluid/flat-gravity derivative expansion* or *Ricci-flat derivative expansion* for short), along the lines of [57, 58]. The Bondi gauge in asymptotically locally flat spacetime turns out to be a sub-gauge of the Ricci-flat derivative

expansion ($\mu_{\phi} = 0$). Hence it inherits the corresponding holographic interpretation, as dual to a Carrollian fluid in a specific Carrollian-fluid frame.

The methods gathered in this review enjoy a promising outlook. A natural step forward is the study of the phase space of the various gauges, both for anti de Sitter and for Minkowski. This would enlighten the gauge-fixing procedure in the study of asymptotic symmetries [40]. The algebras of the complete sets or residual diffeomorphisms unveiled here have been worked out in [58], but the computation of the charges has been performed only partially in [57], for specific corners of the solution space. From this angle, the role played by the extra parameter in the residual diffeomorphisms of the derivative expansion, i.e. the parameter that controls the boundary local boosts (Lorentzian or Carrollian), remains to be clarified. In particular, whether this parameter generates an improper gauge transformation, eliminated when the gauge fixing is complete, is a relevant question, discussed in a more general context in [13,15].

Generalizing our achievements in higher dimensions is ambitious and worth pursuing. A preliminary analysis of this line reveals that the Bondi gauge is intersecting with that of the fluid/gravity correspondence. This problem is more challenging than in three dimensions, where one gauge was embedded in the other, and its investigation looks appealing.

Acknowledgements

Luca Ciambelli and Marios Petropoulos would like to thank the organizers of the *Corfu Conference on Recent Developments in Strings and Gravity* and *Corfu Humboldt Kolleg Frontiers in Physics*, held in Corfu in September 10–19 2019, where part of the displayed material was presented. We thank Francesco Alessio, Glenn Barnich, Andrea Campoleoni, Geoffrey Compère, Laura Donnay, Adrien Fiorucci, Gaston Giribet, Victor Godet, Daniel Grumiller, Rob Leigh, Pujian Mao, Rodrigo Olea, Tasos Petkou, Kostas Siampos and Céline Zwikel for invaluable scientific exchange. Luca Ciambelli thanks the high-energy physics groups of the Universidad de Buenos Aires and the Universidad Andrés Bello, for their warm hospitality and the useful discussions on this project. Romain Ruzziconi is a FRIA Research Fellow of the Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique F.R.S.-FNRS (Belgium). This research was supported in part by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. NSF PHY-1748958, by the Heising–Simons Foundation and by the ANR-16-CE31-0004 contract *Black-dS-String*. The work of Luca Ciambelli is supported by the ERC Advanced Grant *High-Spin-Grav*.

References

- [1] T. Regge and C. Teitelboim, "Role of surface integrals in the Hamiltonian formulation of general relativity," *Annals Phys.* **88** (1974) 286.
- [2] A. Ashtekar and M. Streubel, "Symplectic geometry of radiative modes and conserved quantities at null infinity," *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond.* **A376** (1981) 585.
- [3] R. Penrose, "Quasilocal mass and angular momentum in general relativity," *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond.* **A381** (1982) 53.
- [4] R. M. Wald, "Black hole entropy is the Noether charge," *Phys. Rev.* **D48** (1993) R3427, arXiv:gr-qc/9307038.

- [5] R. M. Wald and A. Zoupas, "A general definition of 'conserved quantities' in general relativity and other theories of gravity," *Phys. Rev.* **D61** (2000) 084027, arXiv:gr-qc/9911095.
- [6] D. Harlow and J.-Q. Wu, "Covariant phase space with boundaries," arXiv:1906.08616 [hep-th].
- [7] Y. Herfray, "Asymptotic shear and the intrinsic geometry of null-infinity," arXiv:2001.01281 [gr-qc].
- [8] C. Troessaert, "Enhanced asymptotic symmetry algebra of AdS₃," *JHEP* **08** (2013) 044, arXiv:1303.3296 [hep-th].
- [9] G. Compère, P. Mao, A. Seraj, and M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari, "Symplectic and Killing symmetries of AdS₃ gravity: Holographic vs boundary gravitons," *JHEP* **01** (2016) 080, arXiv:1511.06079 [hep-th].
- [10] L. Donnay, G. Giribet, H. A. Gonzalez, and M. Pino, "Supertranslations and superrotations at the black hole horizon," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **116** (2016) 091101, arXiv:1511.08687 [hep-th].
- [11] S. W. Hawking, M. J. Perry, and A. Strominger, "Soft hair on black holes," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **116** (2016) 231301, arXiv:1601.00921 [hep-th].
- [12] A. Averin, G. Dvali, C. Gomez, and D. Lüst, "Gravitational black hole hair from event horizon supertranslations," *JHEP* **06** (2016) 088, arXiv:1601.03725 [hep-th].
- [13] D. Grumiller and M. Riegler, "Most general AdS₃ boundary conditions," *JHEP* **10** (2016) 023, arXiv:1608.01308 [hep-th].
- [14] S. Detournay and M. Riegler, "Enhanced asymptotic symmetry algebra of (2+1)-dimensional flat space," *Phys. Rev.* **D95** (2017) 046008, arXiv:1612.00278 [hep-th].
- [15] D. Grumiller, W. Merbis, and M. Riegler, "Most general flat space boundary conditions in three-dimensional Einstein gravity," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **34** (2017) 184001, arXiv:1704.07419 [hep-th].
- [16] G. Barnich, H. González and B. Oblak, "The dual theory of AdS₃ gravity with free boundary conditions," unpublished work.
- [17] M. Henneaux and C. Troessaert, "BMS group at spatial infinity: The Hamiltonian (ADM) approach," *JHEP* **03** (2018) 147, arXiv:1801.03718 [gr-qc].
- [18] H. A. González, J. Matulich, M. Pino, and R. Troncoso, "Revisiting the asymptotic dynamics of general relativity on AdS₃," *JHEP* 12 (2018) 115, arXiv:1809.02749 [hep-th].
- [19] A. Farahmand Parsa, H. R. Safari, and M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari, "On rigidity of 3d asymptotic symmetry algebras," *JHEP* 03 (2019) 143, arXiv:1809.08209 [hep-th].
- [20] E. Adjei, W. Donnelly, V. Py, and A. J. Speranza, "Cosmic footballs from superrotations," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 37 (2020) 075020, arXiv:1910.05435 [hep-th].
- [21] G. Barnich, P. Mao, and R. Ruzziconi, "BMS current algebra in the context of the Newman-Penrose formalism," arXiv:1910.14588 [gr-qc].
- [22] H. Bondi, M. G. J. van der Burg, and A. W. K. Metzner, "Gravitational waves in general relativity. 7. Waves from axisymmetric isolated systems," *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond.* **A269** (1962) 21.
- [23] R. K. Sachs, "Asymptotic symmetries in gravitational theory," *Phys. Rev.* 128 (1962) 2851.

- [24] R. K. Sachs, "Gravitational waves in general relativity. 8. Waves in asymptotically flat spacetimes," Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A270 (1962) 103.
- [25] G. Barnich and G. Compere, "Classical central extension for asymptotic symmetries at null infinity in three spacetime dimensions," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **24** (2007) F15, arXiv:gr-qc/0610130.
- [26] G. Barnich and C. Troessaert, "Aspects of the BMS/CFT correspondence," *JHEP* **05** (2010) 062, arXiv:1001.1541 [hep-th].
- [27] G. Barnich and C. Troessaert, "Finite BMS transformations," *JHEP* **03** (2016) 167, arXiv:1601.04090 [gr-qc].
- [28] T. He, V. Lysov, P. Mitra, and A. Strominger, "BMS supertranslations and WeinbergâĂŹs soft graviton theorem," *JHEP* **05** (2015) 151, arXiv:1401.7026 [hep-th].
- [29] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, "Asymptotic symmetries and subleading soft graviton theorem," *Phys. Rev.* **D90** (2014) 124028, arXiv:1408.2228 [hep-th].
- [30] A. Strominger, "Lectures on the infrared structure of gravity and gauge theory," arXiv:1703.05448 [hep-th].
- [31] A. Ashtekar, M. Campiglia, and A. Laddha, "Null infinity, the BMS group and infrared issues," *Gen. Rel. Grav.* **50** (2018) 140, arXiv:1808.07093 [gr-qc].
- [32] G. Compère, A. Fiorucci, and R. Ruzziconi, "Superboost transitions, refraction memory and super-Lorentz charge algebra," *JHEP* 11 (2018) 200, arXiv:1810.00377 [hep-th].
- [33] L. Donnay, A. Puhm, and A. Strominger, "Conformally soft photons and gravitons," *JHEP* **01** (2019) 184, arXiv:1810.05219 [hep-th].
- [34] T. Adamo, L. Mason, and A. Sharma, "Celestial amplitudes and conformal soft theorems," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **36** (2019) 205018, arXiv:1905.09224 [hep-th].
- [35] G. Barnich, A. Gomberoff, and H. A. Gonzalez, "The flat limit of three dimensional asymptotically anti-de Sitter spacetimes," *Phys. Rev.* **D86** (2012) 024020, arXiv:1204.3288 [gr-qc].
- [36] G. Barnich and P.-H. Lambert, "Einstein-Yang-Mills theory: Asymptotic symmetries," *Phys. Rev.* **D88** (2013) 103006, arXiv:1310.2698 [hep-th].
- [37] A. Poole, K. Skenderis, and M. Taylor, "(A)dS₄ in Bondi gauge," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **36** (2019) 095005, arXiv:1812.05369 [hep-th].
- [38] G. Compère, A. Fiorucci, and R. Ruzziconi, "The Λ-BMS₄ group of dS₄ and new boundary conditions for AdS₄," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **36** (2019) 195017, arXiv:1905.00971 [gr-qc].
- [39] G. Compère, A. Fiorucci, and R. Ruzziconi, "The Λ-BMS₄ charge algebra," arXiv:2004.10769 [hep-th].
- [40] R. Ruzziconi, "Asymptotic symmetries in the gauge fixing approach and the BMS group," arXiv:1910.08367 [hep-th].
- [41] C. Fefferman and C. R. Graham, "Conformal invariants," in Elie Cartan et les mathématiques d'aujourd'hui, Astérisque 1985, numéro hors série Soc. Math. France, Paris, 95.
- [42] C. Fefferman and C. R. Graham, "The ambient metric," *Ann. Math. Stud.* **178** (2011) 1, arXiv:0710.0919 [math.DG].
- [43] V. Balasubramanian and P. Kraus, "A stress tensor for anti-de Sitter gravity," *Commun. Math. Phys.* **208** (1999) 413, arXiv:hep-th/9902121.

- [44] K. Skenderis, "Asymptotically anti-de Sitter spacetimes and their stress energy tensor," *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* **A16** (2001) 740, arXiv:hep-th/0010138.
- [45] L. Ciambelli and R. G. Leigh, "Weyl connections and their role in holography," *Phys. Rev.* **D101** (2020) 086020, arXiv:1905.04339 [hep-th].
- [46] S. Bhattacharyya, V. E. Hubeny, S. Minwalla, and M. Rangamani, "Nonlinear fluid dynamics from gravity," *JHEP* **02** (2008) 045, arXiv:0712.2456 [hep-th].
- [47] M. Haack and A. Yarom, "Nonlinear viscous hydrodynamics in various dimensions using AdS/CFT," *JHEP* **10** (2008) 063, arXiv:0806.4602 [hep-th].
- [48] S. Bhattacharyya, R. Loganayagam, I. Mandal, S. Minwalla, and A. Sharma, "Conformal nonlinear fluid dynamics from gravity in arbitrary dimensions," *JHEP* 12 (2008) 116, arXiv:0809.4272 [hep-th].
- [49] V. E. Hubeny, S. Minwalla, and M. Rangamani, "The fluid/gravity correspondence," in *Black holes in higher dimensions*, pp. 348–383. 2012. arXiv:1107.5780 [hep-th].
- [50] R. Loganayagam, "Entropy current in conformal hydrodynamics," *JHEP* **05** (2008) 087, arXiv:0801.3701 [hep-th].
- [51] M. M. Caldarelli, R. G. Leigh, A. C. Petkou, P. M. Petropoulos, V. Pozzoli and K. Siampos, "Vorticity in holographic fluids," *PoS* CORFU11 (2012) 076, arXiv:1206.4351 [hep-th].
- [52] A. Mukhopadhyay, A. C. Petkou, P. M. Petropoulos, V. Pozzoli and K. Siampos, "Holographic perfect fluidity, Cotton energy—momentum duality and transport properties," *JHEP* **1404** (2014) 136, arXiv:1309.2310 [hep-th].
- [53] P. M. Petropoulos, "Gravitational duality, topologically massive gravity and holographic fluids," *Lect. Notes Phys.* **892** (2015) 331, arXiv:1406.2328 [hep-th].
- [54] J. Gath, A. Mukhopadhyay, A. C. Petkou, P. M. Petropoulos and K. Siampos, "Petrov classification and holographic reconstruction of spacetime," *JHEP* **1509** (2015) 005, arXiv:1506.04813 [hep-th].
- [55] P. M. Petropoulos and K. Siampos, "Integrability, Einstein spaces and holographic fluids," proceedings of the workshop About various kinds of interactions in honour of the 65th birthday of Professor Philippe Spindel, N. Boulanger and S. Detournay, eds., Mons 2017, arXiv:1510.06456 [hep-th].
- [56] L. Ciambelli, C. Marteau, A. C. Petkou, P. M. Petropoulos, and K. Siampos, "Flat holography and Carrollian fluids," *JHEP* **07** (2018) 165, arXiv:1802.06809 [hep-th].
- [57] A. Campoleoni, L. Ciambelli, C. Marteau, P. M. Petropoulos, and K. Siampos, "Two-dimensional fluids and their holographic duals," *Nucl. Phys. B* **946** (2019) 114692, arXiv:1812.04019 [hep-th].
- [58] L. Ciambelli, C. Marteau, P. M. Petropoulos, and R. Ruzziconi, "Gauges in three-dimensional gravity and holographic fluids," arXiv:2006.10082 [hep-th].
- [59] J.-M. Lévy-Leblond, "Une nouvelle limite non-relativiste du groupe de Poincaré," *A. Inst. Henri Poincaré* III (1965) 1.
- [60] M. Henneaux, "Geometry of zero signature spacetimes," Bull. Soc. Math. Belg. 31 (1979) 47.
- [61] C. Duval, G. W. Gibbons, P. A. Horvathy, and P. M. Zhang, "Carroll versus Newton and Galilei: Two dual non-Einsteinian concepts of time," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **31** (2014) 085016, arXiv:1402.0657 [gr-qc].

- [62] C. Duval, G. W. Gibbons and P. A. Horvathy, "Conformal Carroll groups and BMS symmetry," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **31** (2014) 092001, arXiv:1402.5894 [gr-qc].
- [63] C. Duval, G. W. Gibbons and P. A. Horvathy, "Conformal Carroll groups," *J. Phys.* A47 (2014) 335204, arXiv:1403.4213 [hep-th].
- [64] X. Bekaert and K. Morand, "Connections and dynamical trajectories in generalised Newton–Cartan gravity I. An intrinsic view," *J. Math. Phys.* **57** (2016) 022507, arXiv:1412.8212 [hep-th].
- [65] X. Bekaert and K. Morand, "Connections and dynamical trajectories in generalised Newton–Cartan gravity II. An ambient perspective," arXiv:1505.03739 [hep-th].
- [66] J. Hartong, "Gauging the Carroll algebra and ultra-relativistic gravity," *JHEP* **1508** (2015) 069, arXiv:1505.05011 [hep-th].
- [67] J. Figueroa-O'Farrill and S. Prohazka, "Spatially isotropic homogeneous spacetimes," *JHEP* **01** (2019) 229, arXiv:1809.01224 [hep-th].
- [68] K. Morand, "Embedding Galilean and Carrollian geometries I. Gravitational waves," arXiv:1811.12681 [hep-th].
- [69] L. Ciambelli, R. G. Leigh, C. Marteau, and P. M. Petropoulos, "Carroll structures, null geometry and conformal isometries," *Phys. Rev.* **D100** (2019) 046010, arXiv:1905.02221 [hep-th].
- [70] E. Bergshoeff, J. Gomis and G. Longhi, "Dynamics of Carroll particles," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **31** (2014) 205009, arXiv:1405.2264 [hep-th].
- [71] B. Cardona, J. Gomis and J. M. Pons, "Dynamics of Carroll strings," *JHEP* **1607** (2016) 050, arXiv:1605.05483 [hep-th].
- [72] A. Bagchi, S. Chakrabortty and P. Parekh, "Tensionless strings from worldsheet symmetries," *JHEP* **1601** (2016) 158, arXiv:1507.04361 [hep-th].
- [73] L. Ciambelli and C. Marteau, "Carrollian conservation laws and Ricci-flat gravity," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **36** (2019) 085004, arXiv:1810.11037 [hep-th].
- [74] L. Ciambelli, C. Marteau, A. C. Petkou, P. M. Petropoulos, and K. Siampos, "Covariant Galilean versus Carrollian hydrodynamics from relativistic fluids," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **35** (2018) 165001, arXiv:1802.05286 [hep-th].
- [75] M. Hassaïne and P. Horvathy, "Field dependent symmetries of a nonrelativistic fluid model," *Annals Phys.* **282** (2000) 218, arXiv:math-ph/9904022.
- [76] P.-M. Zhang and P. A. Horvathy, "Non-relativistic conformal symmetries in fluid mechanics," *Eur. Phys. J.* **C65** (2010) 607, arXiv:0906.3594 [physics.flu-dyn].
- [77] J. de Boer, J. Hartong, N. A. Obers, W. Sybesma, and S. Vandoren, "Perfect fluids," *SciPost Phys.* 5 (2018) 003, arXiv:1710.04708 [hep-th].
- [78] R. F. Penna, "Near-horizon BMS symmetries as fluid symmetries," *JHEP* 10 (2017) 049, arXiv:1703.07382 [hep-th].
- [79] R. F. Penna, "BMS₃ invariant fluid dynamics at null infinity," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **35** (2018) 044002, arXiv:1708.08470 [hep-th].
- [80] N. Poovuttikul and W. Sybesma, "First order non-Lorentzian fluids, entropy production and linear instabilities," arXiv:1911.00010 [hep-th].

- [81] J. de Boer, J. Hartong, E. Have, N. A. Obers, and W. Sybesma, "Non-boost invariant fluid dynamics," arXiv:2004.10759 [hep-th].
- [82] J. de Boer and S. N. Solodukhin, "A holographic reduction of Minkowski spacetime," *Nucl. Phys.* **B665** (2003) 545, arXiv:hep-th/0303006.
- [83] G. Barnich, A. Gomberoff, and H. A. González, "Three-dimensional Bondi-Metzner-Sachs invariant two-dimensional field theories as the flat limit of Liouville theory," *Phys. Rev.* **D87** (2013) 124032, arXiv:1210.0731 [hep-th].
- [84] R. Fareghbal and A. Naseh, "Flat-space energy-momentum tensor from BMS/GCA correspondence," *JHEP* **03** (2014) 005, arXiv:1312.2109 [hep-th].
- [85] A. Strominger, "On BMS invariance of gravitational scattering," *JHEP* **07** (2014) 152, arXiv:1312.2229 [hep-th].
- [86] S. Detournay, D. Grumiller, F. Schöller, and J. Simõn, "Variational principle and one-point functions in three-dimensional flat space Einstein gravity," *Phys. Rev.* **D89** (2014) 084061, arXiv:1402.3687 [hep-th].
- [87] G. Barnich, H. A. Gonzalez, A. Maloney, and B. Oblak, "One-loop partition function of three-dimensional flat gravity," *JHEP* **04** (2015) 178, arXiv:1502.06185 [hep-th].
- [88] A. Bagchi, R. Basu, A. Kakkar, and A. Mehra, "Flat holography: Aspects of the dual field theory," *JHEP* 12 (2016) 147, arXiv:1609.06203 [hep-th].
- [89] D. Kapec, P. Mitra, A.-M. Raclariu, and A. Strominger, "2D stress tensor for 4D gravity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **119** (2017) 121601, arXiv:1609.00282 [hep-th].
- [90] S. Pasterski, S.-H. Shao, and A. Strominger, "Flat space amplitudes and conformal symmetry of the celestial sphere," *Phys. Rev.* **D96** (2017) 065026, arXiv:1701.00049 [hep-th].
- [91] B. Oblak, BMS particles in three dimensions. PhD thesis, Brussels U., 2016. arXiv:1610.08526 [hep-th].
- [92] A. Ball, E. Himwich, S. A. Narayanan, S. Pasterski, and A. Strominger, "Uplifting AdS₃/CFT₂ to flat space holography," *JHEP* **08** (2019) 168, arXiv:1905.09809 [hep-th].
- [93] W. Merbis and M. Riegler, "Geometric actions and flat space holography," *JHEP* **02** (2020) 125, arXiv:1912.08207 [hep-th].
- [94] L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, *Fluid Mechanics*, Course of Theoretical Physics, Volume 6, Butterworth–Heinemann, second eddition, 1987.
- [95] L. Rezzolla and O. Zanotti, Relativistic Hydrodynamics, Oxford University Press, 2013.
- [96] P. Kovtun, "Lectures on hydrodynamic fluctuations in relativistic theories," *J. Phys.* **A45** (2012) 473001, arXiv:1205.5040 [hep-th].
- [97] L. Ciambelli, A. C. Petkou, P. M. Petropoulos, and K. Siampos, "The Robinson-Trautman spacetime and its holographic fluid," *PoS* CORFU2016 (2017) 076, arXiv:1707.02995 [hep-th].
- [98] S. Grozdanov, P. K. Kovtun, A. O. Starinets, and P. TadiÄĞ, "Convergence of the gradient expansion in hydrodynamics," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **122** (2019) 251601, arXiv:1904.01018 [hep-th].
- [99] P. Kovtun, "First-order relativistic hydrodynamics is stable," arXiv:1907.08191 [hep-th].
- [100] M. Henningson and K. Skenderis, "The holographic Weyl anomaly," *JHEP* **07** (1998) 023, arXiv:hep-th/9806087.

- [101] J. D. Brown and M. Henneaux, "Central charges in the canonical realization of asymptotic symmetries: An example from three-dimensional gravity," *Commun. Math. Phys.* **104** (1986) 207.
- [102] R. Banerjee, S. Dey and B. R. Majhi, "Entropy current in two dimensional anomalous hydrodynamics and a bound on the sum of the response parameters," *Phys. Rev.* **D92** (2015) 044019, arXiv:1412.5878 [hep-th].
- [103] G. Compère and J. Long, "Classical static final state of collapse with supertranslation memory," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **33** (2016) 195001, arXiv:1602.05197 [gr-qc].
- [104] L. Donnay and C. Marteau, "Carrollian physics at the black hole horizon," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **36** (2019) 165002, arXiv:1903.09654 [hep-th].